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Directors’ Report on 
Operations 

Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 2021 

Dear Shareholders, 

We hereby submit for your attention the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2021, 

which present a loss for the year for the Group headed by Mooney Group S.p.A. (hereinafter the “Parent” 

or the “Company”) of Euro 40,013 thousand. 

In the same year, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and amortisation of intangible assets 

were recorded for Euro 61,123 thousand and the value of revenues and income totalled Euro 354,593 

thousand. The income statement is also impacted by net finance expenses for Euro 57.724 thousand. 

Key data

The results for 2021 are presented in the following table (figures in Euro thousand). The table also 

includes “Adjusted” profitability indicators, which exclude the effects of non-recurring extraordinary 

expenses of approximately Euro 22.8 million, mostly associated with company reorganisation and 

acquisition costs, as well as with corporate charges for the reorganisation and launch of new business 

lines carried out by the Group during the year. Furthermore, with regard to EBITDA, which is not 

specifically presented in the Group’s financial statements, this is defined as profit (or loss) for the 

year/period adjusted for: amortisation, depreciation, impairment losses, provisions and reversals of 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, finance income and similar, finance expenses and 

similar, and income taxes.
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Mooney, the first Italian proximity fintech

It was established at the end of 2019 from the union of SisalPay and Banca 5 (Intesa Sanpaolo Group) 

but boasts a history with strong roots, consolidated in the original groups through diversification 

strategies aimed at enhancing the potential of the payments market.  

Through a targeted business development strategy, Mooney has established itself as the first Italian 

Proximity Banking & Payments business, also strengthening its business in the Mobility sector.  

Thanks to a capillary network with over 45 thousand points of sale distributed throughout the country, 

integrated with the most modern digital platforms, Mooney offers a hybrid experience, between physical 

and digital, responding to the contemporary needs of a new simple and fast lifestyle. 

The commercial offer includes services and products such as: prepaid cards, withdrawals, bank 

transfers (T-Bonifico and T-Ricarica), F24, MAV, payment of bills, car tax, PagoPA and telephone top-

ups, as well as mobility services, through the myCicero app for purchasing transport and parking tickets. 

The Group Structure  

During the year, the shareholding structure of the Mooney Group changed following the completion of 

the demerger process of the former parent company Sisal Group S.p.A. (now Sisal S.p.A.) and the 

consequent establishment of the new parent company SG2 S.p.A. 

The parent company is ultimately subject to the control of CVC Capital Partners, one of the main 

international private equity groups.  

The corporate structure of the Group as at 31 December 2021 is shown below. 

(€ / 000)

Condensed Income Statement 2021 2020 Var. (abs) Var. (%)

Total Revenues and income 354,593 311,948 42,645 13.7%

EBITDA 73,692 59,388 14,304 24.1%

Adjusted EBITDA 96,488 81,659 14,829 18.2%

Operating profit/loss (EBIT) 5,159 13,244 (8,085) -61.0%

Adjusted Operating profit/loss (Adj. EBIT) 27,956 35,515 (7,559) -21.3%

Profit (loss) before income taxes (52,565) (39,447) (13,118) 33.3%

Profit (loss) for the year (39,990) (30,715) (9,275) 30.2%
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This corporate structure was further modified at the beginning of the new 2022 financial year, when the 

process of merger by incorporation of SG2 S.p.A. into Mooney Group S.p.A. was finalised last February.  

Mission and values  

The Group’s mission and values play a fundamental role in communicating its strategy, as well as 

strengthening the corporate culture and encouraging the identification of individuals and the alignment 

of individual objectives with those of the company, especially considering that the Group has developed 

at the end of the 2019 financial year and during the following two years it concentrated on the 

combination of different organisational structures and business experiences, albeit ones that are 

complementary and synergistic. 
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Mission 

The company's mission was further defined in the sense of being “The Leader omni-channel 

technological platform for payments”.

Values 

The Group’s values are as follows: 

Customer first 

At Mooney, the customer comes first: we anticipate and solve their requests with quality services and 

tools at competitive prices. 

Excellence 

We work every day to offer only the best. Products and services that improve life and generate value 

for our customers and business partners. 

Simplicity 

We simplify payment transactions and transactional banking services with tools that are friendly, intuitive 

and practical to use. 

Security 

We are the result of the merger of SisalPay with Banca 5, a company that was "already established as 

a great" guarantee of high standards, solidity and credibility. 

Innovation 

We believe that true innovation is synonymous with progress and that is why we constantly invest in 

research and development so that our offers are in step with the times 

Sustainability 

We pursue sustainable growth that respects ESG (Environmental, Social, Governance) issues   

Sustainability  

As well as being codified in its founding values, the Mooney Group has always been deeply aware of 

the important social role developed thanks to its core business, both at a territorial level - as guarantor 

of essential services for the development of a broader financial inclusion - and at a digital level - as a 

supporter of significant investments that allow our country system to pursue significant objectives, 
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including the development of the Cashless Italia Plan, supporting a digital transition that goes hand in 

hand with the daily use of cash. 

In 2021, Mooney's activities in the Sustainability area took on a new focus, thanks to the decision to 

incorporate sustainable development into the long-term corporate strategy, through the careful internal 

analysis of ESG issues linked to the business which has seen the involvement of all company functions. 

Starting from this materiality analysis, the three pillars of corporate sustainability have been defined - 

Financial Inclusivity, Caring Employer, Environmentally Conscious - which correspond to medium and 

long-term objectives integrated within the 2021-2025 Business Plan. In doing so, the company has made 

explicit its commitment to developing a business model based on sustainability with respect to the 

company, its stakeholders and the territories in which they operate. 

In the implementation of this strategy, a set of projects was identified in 2021 that will contribute to the 

achievement of 8 of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations 2030 Agenda 

in the next five years, which can also be implemented thanks to the commitment of the Mooney Group 

in strengthening its internal governance. 

The adoption of a structured system of metrics and KPIs for monitoring the results achieved in terms of 

sustainability, the establishment of an ad hoc management committee and the integration of the ESG 

targets identified within the managerial incentive system will allow the company to maintain a high focus 

and the long-term management of CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) objectives, ensuring the right 

attention to the direct and indirect impacts produced not only at an economic level but also at a social 

and environmental level. 
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Specifically, Mooney wanted to involve its own network and employees in the development of significant 

projects dedicated to people, environmental protection and support for the non-profit sector, presenting 

and launching in 2021 the first line of ESG initiatives, the starting point of a large CSR project that 

includes a set of activities aimed at society and the planet, including:

I. Generosity Network.

Tapping into its nature as an open platform for payments and its widespread presence in the 

territory, Mooney has decided to offer the first free-of-charge fintech platform for the collection of 

donations destined for Third Sector Entities (ETS), through a physical and digital experience. 

The initiative gives ETS entities that request it the possibility of managing the life cycle of donations 

- from sending a donation notice with an associated QR code, to reporting its collection - facilitating 

the activities for collection and payment of funds carried out by volunteers in the territory and 

donations by private citizens. 

It is an innovative tool with which the Mooney network has the possibility to directly support the 

donation process for the non-profit sector and partner organisations to guarantee complete 

transparency in the cash flow and ease of access to the donation channels of its donors base. 

II. Environmental assessment. 

During 2021, the Group carried out a significant assessment of the impact produced by Mooney on 

the environment, through a detailed analysis of all the elements and aspects linked to its core 

business and to the activities carried out by the physical network. In this way, it was possible to build 

a reference base-line capable of reporting in detail polluting emissions, waste produced and natural 

resources consumed - used as a starting point for the definition of practical environmental 

sustainability objectives measurable over time and the construction of solutions able to successfully 

reduce the negative externalities produced by the company.  

III. Sustainable Corporate Mobility.

In compliance with the provisions of the Relaunch Decree (Italian Legislative Decree 34/2020), 

Mooney has dedicated itself to the design of sustainable mobility measures for company staff 

presented in the 2021 Home-Work Travel Plan (PSCL). 

The company is committed to developing a mobility policy that is able to reduce the environmental 

impact produced by the travel choices of its employees, promoting an increasingly green approach, 

respectful of public health and oriented towards the integration of sustainable corporate welfare 

solutions. In addition to the incentives for using TPL and other forms of smart mobility, these also 

include the maintenance of smart working and the setting up of a company Guaranteed Ride Home 

Program. 
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IV. Financial inclusion.

The gradual closure of bank branches is generating clear difficulties in accessing basic financial 

services such as deposits, withdrawals and opening accounts in various Italian municipalities. 

During 2021, Mooney continued its commitment to compensate for the suspension of these services 

by communicating with local communities and guaranteeing inclusion and accessibility through: the 

capillarity of its network of partner points of sale, also able to reach the most remote towns and 

villages in the country; the retailers' opening hours, extended and flexible; and the advantageous 

conditions for opening a Mooney prepaid card account, which make access even easier for the 

general public, without exclusions. 

Considering Mooney's increasing sensitivity to sustainability issues, the company finally committed, in 

2021, to the collection of qualitative and quantitative data useful for the preparation of the first 

Sustainability Report (to be published in 2022), which will report the results of the activities and initiatives 

carried out in the area of CSRs during 2021 in a transparent and detailed manner, according to 

international GRI standards. 

Industry Overview 

The Italian payment and banking services market: the scenario  

The 2019–2021 trend 

The Mooney Group operates in the “Addressable” Payment Services market, with the addition, at the 

end of 2019, of simple transactional services due to the creation of the first proximity banking business 

as a result of the agreement between the Sisal Group – through SisalPay – and the Intesa San Paolo 

Group – through Banca 5. 

Market analyses were performed by processing data from a study carried out by the Digital Innovation 

Observatory of the Polytechnic University of Milan, “Quantification of the payment market in Italy”. 

The addressable market for transactional payment services and banking services consists of three main 

segments: Traditional Retail (post offices, bank branches), Proximity Retail, and Digital, in which the 

Group operates directly. 
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In 2021, the "addressable" market as a whole reached over Euro 248 billion in turnover, showing an 

increase of approximately 1% compared to the previous year. 

It is estimated that the negative effect of the Covid-19 pandemic will be partially recovered by 2022. 

The Proximity Retail and Digital channels in which the Group operates drove the increase in market 

deposits in 2021 compared to 2020. In particular: 

- Proximity Retail increased its collection by approximately 4%, due to the gradual closure of 

branches and the change in consumers' attitude to traditional channels (post offices and banks) 

as a result of the Covid period. In addition, the simplicity and ease of access of the proximity 

channel have always been assets considered to be very important by consumers;  

- the Digital segment, benefiting from the drive of digitalisation in the country and the increase in 

e-commerce, recorded a turnover of around Euro 44 billion in 2021, showing an average growth 

rate of 6.4% (CAGR 2019-2021). 
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Analysing in more detail the segments composing the Proximity Retail, it is noted that:

- In 2021, the Payments segment exceeded Euro 15 billion (+1.8% compared to 2020), thanks to 

the simplicity, convenience and speed of the service offered in the proximity channel; 

- The Telco segment continues to show a decreasing trend (CAGR 19-21: -26.1%) mainly due to 

a change in Italian habits towards subscription rather than "rechargeable" solutions;  

- thanks also to the increase in e-commerce and the Covid-19 pandemic which promoted so-

called "cashless" purchases, the Prepaid segment collected Euro 7 billion, +11.7% compared 

to the previous year. The Group strongly believes in the potential of the segment and decided, 

in 2020, to issue its “Mooney” prepaid card in collaboration with the Intesa Sanpaolo Group; 

- In 2021, the Banking segment, including transactional banking services launched in the 

Proximity retail market in 2018 by Banca 5 S.p.A., collected over Euro 2 billion, showing an 

average growth rate in the 2019-21 period of 51.4% (CAGR). As the first "proximity banking" 

business, Mooney significantly focuses on the growth of this segment, also exploiting the recent 

market trend of a gradual reduction in the number of bank branches by the leading banking 

players.  
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Lastly, the Group’s reference market also includes turnover from online and mobile bill payments, 

paying-in slips, PagoPA payment notifications, etc., as well as the volume of spending in this channel 

through prepaid cards. In 2021, this channel recorded approximately Euro 44 billion, showing an 

increase of 9.6% compared to the previous year with a 2019-2021 CAGR of 6.4%.  

In recent years, digital payments have shown double-digit growth (CAGR 19-21 +10.2%). 

The Prepaid segment accounts for most of the volumes of the Digital channel, with total deposits in 

2021 of Euro 38.5 billion and a CAGR 2019-2021 of 6%. This is due to the increase in the use of prepaid 

cards in e-commerce and the spread of contactless payment tools, also encouraged by the restrictions 

resulting from the Covid-19 epidemic. 
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Within the Group, payments and basic transactional banking operations within the Group are managed 

by Mooney S.p.A., which is licensed to operate as an e-money institute, based on suitable authorisation 

granted previously by the Bank of Italy, whereas mobile phone top-ups and media are distributed 

through the company Mooney Servizi S.p.A.  

Mobility market in Italy: the scenario 

The 2019–2021 trend 

Following the acquisition in 2020 by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. of a majority stake in PluServices s.r.l. and 

its subsidiary myCicero S.r.l., companies that develop integrated digital solutions for transport 

companies that sell mobility services to consumers on apps and online, the Group has entered the digital 

mobility payments market.  

Analyses of this market were carried out by processing the data of a study by the Innovative Payments 

and Digital Innovation in Tourism Observatories of the Milan Polytechnic "Payments in the Mobility 

Market", which considered the mobility payments market as a whole and in relation to the main 

segments of interest for the Group, the "reference market", which includes the mobility segments 

covered and/or being integrated into the Mooney offer (Parking, Local Public Transport, Long-distance 

Bus (GT), Trains, Taxi, Mobility Sharing) and the Toll segment. Other mobility segments not currently 

covered by the offer and not of interest include Ferries, Aeroplanes, Car Rentals and LTZ areas. 
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The mobility payments market in Italy has significant transaction values and a high degree of 

fragmentation in terms of segments and operators. In 2019, the market recorded a total of Euro 36.9 

billion in turnover. In 2020, there was a 50% decline in the market value up to Euro 18.4 billion, linked 

to the Covid-19 health emergency, which led to severe limitations in mobility. In 2021, there was a partial 

recovery of the market and an estimated growth of 29% compared to 2020, thanks to an easing of the 

limitations with the consequent restart of urban mobility to reach schools or the workplace and a partial 

resumption of long-distance travel, especially in the summer period, which resulted in an overall market 

value of Euro 23.7 billion, still far from pre-Covid values (-36% compared to 2019). 
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The reference market consists of the mobility segments covered by the current Mooney offer through 

myCicero and the segments for which the offer is being developed (Parking, Local Public Transport, 

Long-distance Buses, Trains, Taxis, Mobility Sharing), as well as the Toll segment, considered of 

interest by the company Mooney Servizi S.p.A., which in the course of the 2021 financial year was 

accredited as a SET (European Electronic Toll Service) provider. The total value of the "reference 

market" stood at Euro 20.8 billion in 2019 and, after a decline of 37% in 2020 (down to Euro 13.1 billion), 

in 2021 it recorded a rebound (+26% compared to 2020) up to a value of Euro 16.4 billion (-21% 

compared to pre-Covid 2019) thanks to a recovery of all the segments that compose it. 

Considering the nature of the myCicero digital mobility ticketing platform, the incidence of online and 

offline channels was also considered for the reference market. With the advent of the pandemic, the use 

of digital channels grew strongly, both due to the need to limit contagions deriving from the handling of 

cash and due to a strong push towards digitisation by mobility operators. In the reference market, the 

incidence of the online channel on total transactions increased by 9% in 2020 (45% compared to 36% 

in 2019) and remained at the same incidence levels in 2021.  

Events of the period 

Segregation from the Sisal group 

In 2021, segregation activities of the processes/applications previously shared with the Sisal group were 

substantially completed; in particular, in this context, we highlight the completion of the set-up process 

of the new company data centre, the transfer of the application components to support the business and 
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the total segregation of the collection system via SDD to the distribution network, through the re-

negotiation of collection mandates of the entire network, thanks to the joint effort that lasted several 

months of all the main corporate functional areas (AFC, Operations, Sales Force and ICT).  

Main strategic initiatives.  

The 2021 strategic initiatives gave continuity to what was implemented in 2020 and focused on three 

development areas: the launch of the Mooney card, the expansion of revenues generated by business 

banking and the development of the digital channel: 

- the launch of the Mooney card was particularly successful both with consumers and in the 

distribution network, allowing the company Mooney S.p.A. to reach a level of proprietary cards 

of approximately 800,000 at the end of the year. The main reference parameters (KPIs), such 

as the average annual transaction, the number of top-ups, withdrawals and payment 

transactions, were higher than both the market benchmarks and the previous SisalPay card, 

confirming the success of the new brand and of the company's strategic choice. As of 31 

December 2021, approximately 40,000 points of sale in the Mooney network had carried out at 

least one top-up or issue operation since the beginning of the year, an increase of almost 50% 

compared to the similar figure of the previous year;  

- with reference to banking products, the aforementioned company focused on the expansion of 

distribution through the training activity of the Sales Force towards the points of sale of the 

former SisalPay network, which has the dual objective of increasing the points of sale and at 

the same time the number of distributed products; at the end of 2021, the points of sale that 

had carried out at least one transaction for the sale of banking products since the beginning of 

the year were around 31,500, with a growth of around 26% compared to the end of the previous 

year, contributing significantly to the exponential growth of the related revenues; 

- with reference to the Digital channel, the Group is implementing and developing its digital 

transformation strategy, on the one hand pursuing the integrated development of the Mooney 

application with expansion of the functions relating to the card, payments and banking 

business, and on the other continuing with the integration strategy of the Mooney and myCicero 

customer bases in order to optimise the cross-selling of payment, Mooney card and mobility 

products.

E-tolling project

During the year, Mooney Servizi S.p.A. started activities aimed at launching the new Mooney branded 

electronic toll service. This is an initiative of great strategic importance, developed in collaboration with 

the subsidiaries Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l. In particular, in August 2021, the MIT resolution 

was received with the confirmation of the registration of Mooney Servizi S.p.A. in the SET (European 

Electronic Toll Service) register; subsequently the company passed phase 1 of the SET certification 



17

process which was completed with the approval of the transmission apparatus (“OBU") by the Italian 

Association of Motorway and Tunnel Concessionary Companies (Aiscat). 

At the same time, the technical development activities of the platforms and related management 

applications were carried out on the basis of a concentrated plan and the phase aimed at stipulating 

agreements with motorway concessionaires was launched, also in preparation of the related 

technological integration activities. The process continued in the first months of 2022 and the service is 

expected to become operational by the end of the current year. 

Acquisition of a business unit from Banca 5 S.p.A.  

In continuity with the corporate and business reorganisation operation from which the Group was born 

at the end of 2019 through the transfer of business branches including those from Banca 5 S.p.A., which 

initiated a partnership that was, at the time, strategic in the field of payment services, during the year a 

second transaction with the aforementioned bank (called Project Spring) was evaluated and finalised, 

aimed at transferring a company branch owned by Banca 5 to Mooney S.p.A., including further 

relationships, activities, contracts and assets relating to the performance of some payment services of 

Banca 5 that had not previously been transferred to the Company, but which are currently partially 

distributed by Mooney S.p.A. by virtue of a collaboration agreement in place with Banca 5. 

The services exercised through the aforementioned company branch are functional to the current 

activities of Mooney S.p.A. and include both payment services and the related technological assets 

functional to the provision of the same as well as various contracts with commercial partners and 

consumer customers. More precisely, with reference to payment services, the further transfer would 

include all payment services of a more purely banking nature, such as those on the SEPA network 

(SEPA Credit Transfer) or on the CBill and MyBank network, validation and withdrawal services of bank 

cards, acquiring services and related services. Furthermore, in relation to the technological assets, it 

has been envisaged that the business unit is to include the technological platform for the issue and 

operational management of prepaid cards and the related contracts with third parties, necessary for the 

supply of the same, with particular reference to the prepaid cards, the payment account management 

platform and related contracts with third parties, including home banking platforms and PSD2 services 

relating to PISP ("Payment Initiation Service Providers") and AISP ("Account Information Service 

Provider"), as well as some contracts relating to the marketing of insurance products, money transfer 

and digital signature.  

In relation to this complex operation, which will allow the Group to expand its offer through the authorised 

company operating as IMEL and to directly carry out and structure the aforementioned services as well 

as to create further synergies, simplifying its commercial offer and strengthening the provision of 

services for its customers, the related agreements were signed between the parties last September and 

at the same time activities began in relation to the technological development and implementation of the 
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operational and administrative-financial processes preparatory to the related closing. These activities, 

which fully engaged the main corporate structures, also continued in the first months of 2022, reaching 

substantial completion in March; therefore, as soon as the necessary authorisation to proceed is 

received from the Supervisory Authority on the basis of the related request prepared and transmitted at 

the end of 2021, the transaction will become fully effective, reasonably by the end of April.     

Inspection visit by the Bank of Italy 

In September 2021, the Bank of Italy launched an inspection at the company Mooney S.p.A. as part of 

an information/awareness campaign at IMELs (electronic money institutions) to collect information on 

the application methods of the transparency principles pursuant to the regulatory provisions in force. In 

particular, access was aimed at inspections pursuant to art. 114-quinquies.2, paragraph 4 and art. 128 

of Italian Legislative Decree 385/1993, concerning the verification of the procedures and practices 

adopted to protect payment services users with particular reference to the placement of products on 

digital channels, unilateral amendments to framework contracts, withdrawal and management of 

refusals.  

All the functions involved in the aforementioned inspection and, in particular, Payment Services & 

Operations, Digital Payment & Services, Customer Operations, Commercial & Banking Services, 

Organisation, Internal Audit and Risk & Compliance immediately made themselves available to the 

Inspectors to provide all the information and documentary details requested.  

During discussions with the team, evidence was also provided of the extensive work carried out by the 

Control Committee, which was divided into 14 sessions, many of which were dedicated to discussions 

with second-level control functions, as well as in frequent reports to the Board of Directors during 10 

Board sessions, and account was taken of the new appointments relating to the Responsibilities of the 

Risk & Compliance Function and of the Anti-Money Laundering and Suspicious Transactions 

Notification Function and in general of the activities underway to strengthen the control functions with 

internal resources with adequate relevant professional experience, a further organisational development 

necessary and functional to the expansion of the perimeter of activities that is taking shape as a result 

of the completion of the above-mentioned Project Spring transaction.  

With respect to the considerations and exhortations that emerged during the discussions with the 

inspection team and the observations made, the competent functions of the company, in the logic of 

pursuing the best possible compliance levels, promptly took action,  with immediate actions which were 

positively acknowledged at the time of notification of the inspection minutes on March 10, 2022. 
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Impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic 

2021 was the second year impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.  

To protect public health and limit the spread of the virus, the Government issued new provisions on the 

containment and management of the epidemiological emergency, which sanctioned a state of health 

emergency for the whole of 2021. The main government interventions are listed below: 

i) the Law Decree of 14 January 2021 extended the national state of emergency to 30 April 2021, 

confirmed the ban on travel between different Regions or Autonomous Provinces until 15 

February 2021 and established a national information platform on the vaccine plan 

ii) the Council of Ministers of 23 April 2021 extended the national state of emergency to 31 July 

2021 

iii) the Council of Ministers of 22 July 2021 extended the national state of emergency to 31 

December 2021 and introduced the procedures for using the Green Pass 

iv) the Council of Ministers of 15 December 2021 approved a Decree Law extending the national 

state of emergency to 31 March 2022. 

The persistence of the state of emergency has negatively impacted the retail sector, generating store 

closure rates higher than historical standards and a reduction in mobility and consequently in traffic at 

the points of sale. It is estimated that in 2021, Covid had a negative impact for the Mooney Group, in 

terms of EBITDA, of approximately Euro 10.6 million, generated both by higher store closure rates and 

by a reduction in the footprint linked to limitations imposed by the Government to protect public health. 

In this emergency scenario, the Group has moved in multiple directions: 

a. to protect its employees, by implementing the CSR action plan, retaining the extensive adoption 

of smart working throughout the course of 2021, arranging for the total closure of offices in some 

periods and limiting access to them in others; 

b. in support of the Business and to guarantee the achievement of the expected results, by 

implementing an operational plan aimed, on the one hand, at containing expenses in the event 

that the persistence of the pandemic had significantly impacted revenues and, on the other, at 

expanding the range of products offered in order to support volumes and traffic at points of sale; 

finally, by continuing to develop the digital offer aimed at a greater diversification of the offer 

and the expansion of the digital consumer base;  

c. to protect the distribution network by carrying out a plan of new store openings aimed at 

offsetting the higher closure rate caused by the pandemic. 

The actions implemented led the Group to exceed expectations, generating significant growth in terms 

of turnover (revenues net of the remuneration paid to the distribution chains + 25% compared to the 

same figure for 2020) and margins (EBITDA + 18% compared to 2020). 
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Made up of over 45,000 points of sale, despite being impacted by the containment measures of the 

pandemic imposed by the government, the network has shown resilience compared to other sectors. 

Overview 

The economic results for the 2021 financial year, summarised in the table at the beginning of this Report, 

reflect the progressive integration process of the assets transferred to the Group companies following 

the completion of the extraordinary transaction from which it was established at the end of 2019 as well 

as a gradual normalisation process of the reference context following the pandemic outbreak in early 

2020.  

The operating result for the year, equal to approximately Euro 5.2 million, compared to an operating 

profit of approximately Euro 13 million recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the previous 

year, derives from revenues and income recorded for approximately Euro 355 million and more 

specifically and mainly to the following fees: 

- for payment services for pay-slips and stamps, for approximately Euro 189 million; 

- for services connected with both the distribution and top-up of prepaid cards issued by third 

parties and the "issuing" and top-up of prepaid cards issued by the Company in its role of 

Electronic Money Institute, for a total of approximately Euro 27 million; 

- for the distribution and sale of telephone top-ups and cards and other commercial services, for 

approximately Euro 34 million; 

- for the banking-type service offered in relation to withdrawals, payments, money transfers as 

well as the payment of tax proxies, typically pertaining to the traditional distribution channels 

(bank and post office branches), but with great potential for the proximity channel, for over Euro 

28 million;     

- relative to the "mobility" business managed by the companies Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero 

S.r.l., consisting in the supply of technological solutions for public and private transport 

companies, as well as services to citizens for the digital payment of parking, blue lines and 

purchase of transport tickets, for approximately Euro 11 million;   

- for fees accrued due to the Mooney distribution network on the basis of the undertaken 

contractual conditions and to a lesser extent other services provided to the points of sale, 

including service fees related to EasyCassa installations, a retail technological solution 

integrated with cash register functions, electronic invoicing, management and payment 

acceptance, for a total of over Euro 61 million.   

Despite the persistence of the impact of the pandemic emergency, especially in the first months of the 

year, the aforementioned revenues and income (expressed gross of the relative payments to distribution 

chains) showed a significant increase (approximately +14%) compared to the same figure for 2020, with 

positive trends in practically all business segments in which the Group operates. 
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Among those that showed the greatest dynamism, the following stand out in particular: 

- The banking services segment, which recorded a respectable growth trend (approximately 

+67%), thanks to higher volumes of deposits per point of sale, distribution synergies with the 

progressive expansion to the network conferred by the Sisal group and the extension of the 

product portfolio that allow the Group Banking Services to offer the most comprehensive service 

on the proximity channel; 

- the prepaid cards segment, characterised by the success of the Mooney card, a product 

launched at the end of 2020 that significantly contributed to the segment's revenue growth of 

over 105% compared to 2020, thanks also to the efforts of the sales network aimed at the 

expansion of the related distribution network (approximately 40 thousand points of sale at the 

end of 2021); 

- the Mobility segment, with revenues almost tripled compared to the 2020 figure, heavily 

impacted by the consequences of the pandemic emergency, growth driven not only by the 

gradual return to normality but also by the significant increase in the customer base (over 1 

million new registered users on company applications during the year) and of the related 

transactional volumes, and supported by continuous geographical expansion and increase in 

partnerships signed. 

As regards the more traditional and consolidated Payments segment, despite a less significant growth 

(equal to about 2%) compared to other segments, this remains one of the most consolidated and resilient 

segments of the Group in the which Mooney's leadership position as the first Payments provider is 

confirmed in relation to payments to the PA (via the PagoPA node), with almost 29 million transactions 

handled during the year, about 30% more than the second operator at national level.   

Against this trend in revenues, operating costs amounted to a total of approximately Euro 350 million, 

mainly consisting of the following components: 

- costs for services, for approximately Euro 242 million (of which approximately Euro 169 million 

relating to the remuneration paid to the distribution chains); 

- personnel costs, for over Euro 27 million, also deriving from the further strengthening of the 

operating structures to support new businesses; 

- costs for depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets, for approximately Euro 

67 million, which mainly reflect, in addition to the full-year charges deriving from the assets 

acquired and developed during the previous year, also those relating to the significant 

investments made in 2021, especially with regard to the SW applications developed to support 

the various business projects launched by the Group, in addition to the effect of the acceleration 

of the amortisation of the SisalPay brand (for approximately Euro 6.8 million), which will be 

progressively discontinued following the consolidation of the new Mooney corporate brand.    
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The aforementioned costs also reflect the impact of non-recurring and/or extraordinary charges, equal 

to approximately Euro 22.8 million, whose composition can be summarised in the following main 

categories:  

(a) non-recurring costs of approximately Euro 14.3 million, of which approximately Euro 6.8 million 

refer to the costs of integrating the businesses transferred as well as the segregation from the 

transferring companies, in addition to the costs relating to the "rebranding" project launched at 

the end of previous year for approximately Euro 3.0 million and M&A costs for approximately 

Euro 4.0 million; 

(b) extraordinary costs of around Euro 8.4 million relating to the launch of new business lines, with 

particular reference to the new own-brand prepaid cards.  

As a result of the aforementioned trends, gross profitability (EBITDA) grew by more than 18% compared 

to 2020, net of the effect in both periods of non-recurring and extraordinary charges, while operating 

profitability decreased by approximately 21% mainly as a result of the above-mentioned amortisation 

item.  

From a financial and equity point of view, the year 2021 developed in continuity with the structure defined 

at the end of the year 2019.  

The key performance indicators relating to Net invested capital, as well as some financial indicators, are 

summarised in the following table (in Euro thousand):  

Net invested capital is the sum of the statement of financial position items related to trade receivables 

and payables, inventories, fixed assets, employee severance indemnities, provisions for risks and 

charges, other assets and other liabilities, not taking into account the effect of the differences in timing 

in the settlement of the items relating to working capital for collection and payment services for a total 

amount of around Euro 52 million in 2021 (equal to about Euro 60 million in 2020). That amount is 
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reflected in an increase in the aggregate items Invested Capital and Funding by third parties.  The latter 

represents the algebraic sum of the financial liabilities of the Group for a total amount of Euro 948 million 

in 2021 (approximately Euro 902 million in 2020) net of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents adjusted 

as indicated above for a total of Euro 15 million in 2021 (approximately Euro 9 million in 2020).  

Instead, the value of shareholders’ equity reflects, as already discussed in the report on the consolidated 

financial statements of 2019, the different accounting treatment of the business combinations finalised 

at the end of the year, i.e., that referring to the business acquired from Banca 5 S.p.A. is measured at 

fair value, while that relating to the assets transferred by the Sisal Group, which the Parent was a part 

of, was recorded at values consistent with those in the consolidated financial statements of the parent 

Sisal Group S.p.A., as it entailed operations under common control. As a result, the difference in these 

values compared to the (significantly higher) prices paid for the acquisitions, in line with the market 

values, was recorded against the Group’s equity, in a manner equivalent to a distribution of reserves to 

shareholders, thus resulting in the negative amount.  

The change in consolidated equity during the year is mainly attributable to the loss for the year equal to 

Euro 39,990 thousand.  

With reference to the sustainability of the invested capital and in particular of the goodwill recorded in 

the assets of the consolidated balance sheet for a total of approximately Euro 534 million, the Group 

promptly carried out the updating of the “Impairment test” as required by the reference accounting 

standards. 

To this end, the Group's management has developed a plan of company results and related cash flows 

that provides for significant growth objectives over a five-year time span, in line with the group's mission 

of being the leading and most accessible of proximity banking & payments network.  

The projected growths are linked to the development of all sectors and products in which the Group 

operates. In particular, the plan provides for the growth of PagoPa and Digital Payments services, the 

expansion of the distribution network, the further development and accreditation of the Mooney Card, 

launched at the end of the previous year, and of the new business lines in the mobility sector thanks to 

the know-how obtained through the strategic acquisition of myCicero S.r.l. and Pluservice S.r.l., 

concluded in 2020. 

The aforementioned calculations did not reveal any critical issues and/or the need to make write-downs, 

even if partial, of the goodwill recognised. 

Lastly, as regards third-party funds, net of the effect of the increase in the “Non-cash” interests (equal 

to approximately Euro 29 million) accrued in 2021 on the debt notes subscribed at the end of 2019 by 

the Parent Company in favour of the shareholders for a total of Euro 286 million in principal, of which 

Euro 100 million originally to the company Sisal Group S.p.A. and Euro 186 million to the shareholder 

Banca 5 S.p.A., the increase of approximately Euro 11 million is mainly due to the impact of new lease 

agreements under IFRS 16 signed during the year and the amortisation of the one-off charges on 
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finance contracts taken out at the time of establishment of the Group, while operating cash flows grew 

by over Euro 70 million compared to the performance in the previous year, as can be seen from the 

relative cash flow statement, due to both the improved current management result and of that relative 

to the management of working capital. 

Risk and uncertainty factors  

The Group operates in a highly competitive context and is also characterised by a significant 

technological evolution, with relationships with a high number of customers in the public and private 

sector, recipients of its payment, financial and commercial services, and with a plurality of affiliated 

entities that operate also as payment points on the national territory; it carries out its business based on 

criteria for limiting exposure to risks, therefore its risk management strategy is above all aimed at 

minimizing the potential negative effects of risks, especially on performance and financial stability. 

The supervision of the risk control system is mainly carried out by the Risk & Compliance function, which 

operates transversely with the other control functions together with the specialist controls and internal 

divisions that are involved for their areas of competence.  

Adopted summarises the set of risk cases considered applicable and relevant also in terms of the 

business and ordinary operations, the Enterprise Risk Management Framework is therefore a process 

designed to i) identify potential events that may affect company activities; ii) manage the risk within the 

limits of acceptable risk; iii) provide reasonable security on the pursuit of corporate objectives. 

The definition of the Risk Universe in particular is characterised by the phases of i) identification of the 

perimeter of regulatory risks; ii) identification of relevant risks and processes analysis; iii) definition of 

the perimeter of identified risks, with particular reference to IMEL Mooney S.p.A.  

For each type of significant risk, the related regulatory process is defined which is translated into policies, 

with an indication of the roles and responsibilities of the structures involved: policies are subject to review 

and modification in the event of regulatory updates, interventions by the Supervisory Authority, changes 

in business strategies or changes in the reference implementation context. 

For measurable risks only, KRI indicators have been defined, which are monitored and measured 

quarterly on the basis of the data provided by the competent company departments; the monitoring 

results are regularly reported to the Board of Directors, the Committee and the Risk Control and Related 

Parties who contribute, as actors, to the internal control and risk management system.  
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Since the issuing and distribution of electronic money and the provision of payment services are carried 

out by also resorting to the outsourcing of certain operational and organisational controls, a specific 

framework for the management of outsourcing and related risks has also been defined. 

Finally, the Group adopted an organisational model that conforms to the provisions of Legislative Decree 

231/2001 on matters regarding their corporate administrative liability. 

Governance  

The Mooney Group is aware of the importance of a good Corporate Governance system to achieve 

strategic objectives and create long-term sustainable value, ensuring effective governance, in 

compliance with the institutions and the rules, i.e., effective in consideration of the principles of cost 

containment and fair to all parties involved in the life of the Group. 

In accordance with the above, the Group maintains its Corporate Governance system constantly in line 

with the relevant recommendations and regulations, adopting national and international best practices. 

Mooney has adopted a traditional management and organisational model, with a Shareholders' Meeting, 

a Board of Directors and a Board of Statutory Auditors. The Group’s Corporate Governance structure is 

based on the central role of the Board of Directors - as the highest body responsible for managing the 

company in the interest of the shareholders - in providing strategic guidance, guaranteeing the 

transparency of corporate decision-making processes and in defining an effective internal control and 

risk management system, including internal and external decision-making processes. 

The Parent Company Mooney Group S.p.A. is currently managed by a Board of Directors composed of 

seven Directors in office until the date of the Shareholders' Meeting that will be called to approve the 

Financial Statements for the year ending 31 December 2021. 

The Board of Directors is vested with the broadest powers of ordinary and extraordinary administration, 

with the exception of those that the law reserves exclusively to the Shareholders' Meeting.  

The Board of Directors has identified a Managing Director from among its members, who has been 

granted the proxies and powers of ordinary administration necessary or useful for the performance of 

the company’s business.

The management of the company is the responsibility of the Directors, who carry out the operations 

necessary for the implementation of the corporate purpose. The Board of Directors is also responsible 

for the Group’s internal control and risk management system. 

During the 2021 financial year, the Group completed the process of segregating its activities relating to 

the Internal Control System from those previously managed within the Sisal Group in combination with 
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the "Gaming" world with the closing of the relative last transitional contracts. 

The main operating structures in this area are listed below: 

- Control, Risk and Related Parties Committee (Board committee); 

- Appointments and Remuneration Committee (Board committee); 

- Corporate Internal Audit department; 

- Corporate Risk & Compliance department; 

- Corporate Anti-money laundering department; 

- Data Protection Officer; 

- Information Security & IT Compliance; 

- Compliance department for the prevention of corruption; 

- Health, Safety & Environment (employer's delegate pursuant to art. 16 of Italian Legislative 

Decree 81/2008); 

The Board Committees support the Board of Directors on their specific matters and have access to 

all relevant information and to all company functions, especially the activities of the corporate control 

department, from which they receive regular information; these departments are involved whenever 

it is deemed necessary. 

With specific reference to the Control, Risk and Related Parties Committee, it should be noted that 

it was already established in the previous year, with the following main tasks: 

- performance of the functions set forth in the Related Party Transactions Procedure, including 

any proposals to the Board of Directors for amendments or additions to said Procedure. 

- assistance to the Board of Directors with investigative, propositional and advisory functions 

applied to assessments and decisions relating to the Internal Control System, and providing 

opinions in relation to the approval of the financial statements and relations with the independent 

auditing firm.  

In this context, the following tasks are assigned to the Committee: 

o assisting the Board of Directors in carrying out the duties relating to the Control System; 

o providing opinions in relation to the correct use of the accounting standards and, in 

relation to the Group to which they belong, their consistency for the purposes of 

preparing the consolidated financial statements; 

o  at the request of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer appointed for this 

purpose, expressing opinions on specific aspects concerning the identification of the 
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main business risks as well as the design, implementation and management of the 

Internal Control System; 

o reviewing the work plan prepared by the Control and the Specialist Functions, as well 

as the periodic reports prepared by them;  

o carrying out the additional tasks assigned to it by the Board of Directors; 

o reporting to the Board of Directors, at least once every quarter, including once at the 

time of approval of the financial statements, on the activities carried out and on the 

adequacy of the Internal Control System. 

The Committee has also the right to access the information and company functions necessary 

for the performance of its duties and may refer to external consultants at the company’s 

expense. 

The Control and Related Parties Committee was constituted within Mooney S.p.A. and its 

competence extends to the Mooney Group S.p.A., Mooney S.p.A. and Mooney Servizi S.p.A.  

Lastly, a system of internal controls based on the Group’s organisational structure was defined by 

the competent boards. The Internal Control System is the set of rules, procedures and 

organisational structures that make it possible to ensure compliance with company strategies. 

The internal control structure was defined on three levels: 

- first level controls: line controls entrusted to the managers of the operating processes of 

reference (internal and/or external to the companies); the managers of the external processes 

must comply with the individual Service Level Agreements in force on the basis of the 

outsourcing contract, agreed upon with each internal manager. 

- second-level controls: 

- compliance: aimed at monitoring the risk of incurring legal or administrative sanctions, 

significant financial losses or reputational damage, due to Company’s operations that are 

not in compliance with the applicable laws. The controls carried out by the following 

specialist units are also included in the overall compliance mechanism: Information 

Security & IT Compliance; Data Protection Officer; Compliance Department for the 

Prevention of Corruption; Health, Safety & Environment; 

- risk management: to manage and monitor overall risks; 

- anti-money laundering: to monitor the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing. 

- third-level controls: internal audit controls aimed at verifying both the regularity of operations 

and the functionality of the controls adopted by the Group companies for the management of all 

risks associated with operations, as well as the completeness, functionality and effectiveness 

of the overall Internal Control System; and internal audit inspections, aimed at identifying 

irregularities and embezzlement within the company organisation. 
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Information regarding human resources and the environment 

As of 31 December 2020, the Group has 629 employees, with an increase in the workforce of just under 

50 units compared to the similar figure at the end of 2020. No cases of death and/or serious work 

accidents or occupational diseases were recorded among employees or former employees, or any 

cases of mobbing.  

As part of the ongoing pandemic emergency, the Group has retained the safeguards already partially 

adopted in the previous year, including the extensive adoption of smart working, the closure, or minimal 

use in certain periods of the company offices, related controls at the entrance (including green pass 

check), sanitation activities, supply of COVID kits and the administration continued during the year, in 

collaboration with the San Donato Group, of molecular swabs entirely at the Group's expense, offered 

on a voluntary basis to workers who were present in the workplace for at least two days a week.   

The Corporate Committee for the fight against Covid-19 contagion also remained active, with meetings 

at least every two months, to monitor the effectiveness of the actions implemented and the related 

company protocols.  Thanks also to all these initiatives, there were no particularly serious or even fatal 

cases of infection within the company population. 

With reference to the issue of any environmental impacts deriving from the company activities, it should 

be noted that during the year there were no cases of environmental damage attributed to the Group 

companies or final sanctions or penalties charged to the same for crimes or environmental damage; 

moreover, most of the activities relevant to these purposes were carried out during the year by external 

suppliers.  

For further details, see the paragraph on Sustainability. 

Other information 

Pursuant to Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 27 April 2016, 

relating to the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and of Legislative 

Decree no. 196/2003, it is acknowledged that the Group has adapted to the measures regarding the 

protection of personal data. 

Research and Development 

The financial year 2021 recorded further significant investments in tangible and intangible assets 

acquired from third parties or developed with internal resources, in particular with reference to 

application systems and/or similar. 

Overall, the value of the investments amounted to around Euro 43 million, approximately 39% higher 

than the corresponding figure for 2020; around Euro 7 million refer to tangible assets and around Euro 

36 million to intangible assets. Investments in the latter category essentially refer to the development of 
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management software applications and/or the purchase of software licences to support the various 

corporate businesses as well as new products launched during the year. 

In addition to these investments, it is also important to note the capitalisations carried out in 2021 in 

relation to the new lease agreements subject to the requirements of the international accounting 

standard IFRS 16, for a total of approximately Euro 10 million, mainly deriving from investments relating 

to the new company offices, including in particular the Milan headquarters, in relation to which the new 

multi-year lease agreement was formalised with the owner during the year to replace the previous short-

term sublease granted by the company Sisal Entertainment S.p.A.   

Lastly, it is important to underline that with regard to the strategic investment finalised during the year 

to acquire control of the Pluservice group for a consideration at closing of approximately Euro 4.1 million, 

a further Euro 2.6 million were liquidated during 2021 and that, according to the results that will be 

achieved by the acquired companies, an earn-out payment to the seller is envisaged in the coming years 

(whose estimate was increased at the end of the financial year by about Euro 1.8 million), as well as the 

possibility for the Group to acquire, through the exercise of call options, full control of the acquired 

company and its subsidiary myCicero S.r.l., already 30% owned by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. in 2019.  

Precisely in collaboration with these subsidiaries, as previously mentioned, during the year the company 

Mooney Servizi S.p.A. launched a strategic development project in the mobility segment, aimed at 

allowing it to become an operator in the e-tolling (electronic toll) services segment, on the basis of the 

relevant European legislation; to this end, investments in application infrastructures were made during 

the year for approximately Euro 1.6 million, included in investments in intangible assets.  

Transactions with parent companies 

With regard to relations with the new parent company SG2 S.p.A., please note the debit note for a total 

of approximately Euro 119.5 million, previously signed by the Parent Company against the acquisition 

of equity investments in the two directly controlled companies. This line of debt, entirely subordinated to 

the Company's existing loans, was originally due to the former parent company Sisal Group S.p.A. and, 

following the spin-off of the latter which took place last November, was transferred to the beneficiary 

company of the spin-off, or SG2 S.p.A. At the end of the financial year, the Parent Company and the 

holding company initiated the procedures aimed at completing the reverse merger which was 

completed, in line with the expected timescales, in February 2022.    

Related party transactions  

Transactions with related parties are further described in the Explanatory Notes, in particular Note 41, 

which highlights the existence of relations with the minority shareholder of the Parent Company Banca 
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5 S.p.A., which exercises a significant influence over the Group, and with the parent company of Intesa 

Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

These transactions, of a commercial, operational and financial nature are also detailed in the 

Explanatory Notes. 

Treasury Shares   

Neither the Parent nor the other Group companies hold treasury shares, nor do they hold shares or 

quotas in parent companies, either through trust companies or third parties. During the period, no 

acquisitions or sales of these types of shares or quotas took place. 

Audit Firm 

The audit of the accounts is assigned, pursuant to law, to an audit firm enrolled in the register of auditors, 

whose appointment is the responsibility of the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

The assigned audit firm is PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A, which was granted the auditing assignment 

for the three-year period 2021-2023.    

Significant events occurring after the end of the year

In the last period of the 2021 financial year, the Parent Company launched a process aimed at verifying 

the possibility of accessing the listing on the Italian Stock Exchange; this process was interrupted at the 

end of the year when, at the end of a tight investigation process, the company Schumann Investments 

SA, then the indirect parent company of the Company, signed a binding agreement for the sale of its 

shareholding in part to the current shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A., 100% controlled by the Banca Intesa 

Sanpaolo group and partly by the company Enel X S.p.A., which is part of the ENEL group.  

During the first months of 2022, the companies concerned therefore activated the process to reach the 

"closing" and, to this end, various activities are underway, including the authorisation procedures at the 

Market and Competition Authority and at the Bank of Italy in consideration of the nature of supervised 

financial intermediary of the subsidiary Mooney S.p.A. 

There are no further significant developments in the context of the main commercial and corporate 

relationships in addition to what may have already been reported above, among which we highlight in 

particular the substantial conclusion of the preparatory activities for the completion of the process of 

transferring of the additional business branch by the shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A. and the conclusion of 

the reverse merger of the holding company SG2 S.p.A. into the Parent Company, the last act of the 

corporate restructuring operation started in the previous year with the aforementioned demerger of Sisal 

S.p.A., the previous direct holding company of the company. 
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Outlook 

The macroeconomic scenario for the current year, reflected in the 2022 Budget approved by the Group 

last March, is less favourable than expected only a few months ago due to the combined effect of some 

global events, such as the persistence of the pandemic scenario also following the emergence of new 

variants, the unexpected geopolitical crisis following the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the worsening of 

tensions on the energy sources supply markets and the correlated inflationary shock that now 

characterises all major world economies.  

It is believed that these events will also have an impact on the reference market for Payments & Banking 

services, which is still expected to grow but at a rate essentially halved compared to original expectations 

and equal to approximately 3%. It is also expected that there may be difficulties at the level of the 

distribution network, with an increase in the numbers relating to closures and greater difficulties in 

contracting and launching of new points of sale. 

Nevertheless, the attraction of the payment proximity market in which the Group operates is expected 

to increase, thanks also to an increase in the offer of products and services, an increase in the level of 

professionalism and specialisation of the distribution network, and also as a consequence of competition 

among the various operators.  

As regards the Mobility market, however, expectations are for a recovery to pre-Covid levels, even if it 

is probable that this market may also be affected by the current economic situation. Moreover, the 

initiatives that the Group is implementing are aimed at a further expansion of the customer base and at 

strengthening and expanding its commercial offer also through the launch of products and/or business 

lines, first of all the aforementioned E-tolling. 

Based on the aforementioned scenarios, the expectations for the current year anticipate a further growth 

in the Group's performance compared to the 2021 results, both in terms of revenues and operating 

profitability, thanks to the contribution of all of the business segments and the substantial investments 

planned in relation to financial sustainability.     

Milan, April 14, 2022 

* * *                                                                                                            

                                                                                  On behalf of the Board of Directors 

                                                                                 The Chairman 

                                                                          Prof. Paolo Fumagalli
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 MOONEY GROUP 

Notes 

to the Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 

2021 

1. General information  

Mooney SisalPay Group S.p.A. (hereafter “Mooney Group”, the “Company” or the “Parent 

Company”) is a company incorporated and based in Italy, with registered and administrative offices in 

Milan, in Via Privata Nino Bonnet 6/A, organised under the laws of the Republic of Italy. The current 

business name was adopted in April 2021, as the final step of the “re-branding” process initiated by the 

Group in 2020; the Company was previously called SisalPay Group S.p.A. 

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) operate principally in the collection and 

payment services sector, both in the segment of services requiring specific authorisation of the Bank of 

Italy, and in the segment of other non-supervised services such as primarily the marketing of top-ups 

for telephone and TV content and the services linked to mobility in the public sector. 

At the end of July 2019, the Sisal Group concluded an important strategic agreement with Banca 5 

S.p.A. to combine their respective payment services through a corporate reorganisation of the respective 

businesses. As a result, starting from the operational closing of the complex operation on 13 December 

2019, these businesses are managed by the two operational companies Mooney Servizi S.p.A. (formerly 

SisalPay Servizi S.p.A.) and Mooney S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Pay S.p.A., an e-money institute subject to 

supervision by the Bank of Italy), both 100%-owned by Mooney Group S.p.A. 

During the previous year, the Group consolidated its development strategy by acquiring control (51%) 

of the company Pluservice S.r.l., based in Senigallia, Ancona, operating together with the subsidiary 

MyCicero S.r.l., of which the group held 30% of the share capital, in the public mobility sector. Through 

the purchase agreement, the Group has guaranteed itself the right to purchase the remaining share 

capital by 2023 for a price in line with the performance of the companies in question. 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group is controlled by SG2 S.p.A., a company established in November 

2021 that took over Sisal S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Group S.p.A.), following the spin-off of the latter, and 

owner of 70% of the share capital of the Parent Company. 

The corporate purpose of SG2 S.p.A. consists in activities, in an entrepreneurial form, for the purchase, 

holding and management of shares, units and/or shareholdings with the exclusion of transactions with 

the public. 
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In the following month of February 2022, moreover, the process of reverse merger by incorporation was 

completed of the aforementioned parent into the Company, which has since been directly controlled by 

Schumann Investments S.A., a company incorporated under Luxembourg law.

The registered office is located in Via Privata Nino Bonnet, 6/A in Milan. 

The minority shareholder that owns the remaining 30% of the shares comprising the share capital of the 

Company is Banca 5 S.p.A, an Italian bank that provides banking services as well as collection and 

payment services to resellers of products under Italian state monopoly and tobacconists. Banca 5 S.p.A.  

is part of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group. The registered office is located in Via Bisceglie, 120 - 20152 Milan. 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent 

Company on April 14, 2022. 

2. Summary of accounting policies 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The designation “IFRS” also includes all valid International Accounting 

Standards (“IAS”), as well as all interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee, formerly the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and before that the Standing 

Interpretations Committee (“SIC”), which, at the balance sheet date, have been adopted by the 

European Union according to the procedure established by Regulation EC 1606/2002 of the European 

Parliament and European Council on 19 July 2002.  

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Euro, which represents the 

currency of the economic environment in which the Group operates. All amounts presented in the notes 

are expressed in thousands of Euro, unless otherwise stated.  

The format of the financial statements and the relative classification criteria adopted by the Group, within 

the framework of the options provided by IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements are presented 

below: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position uses a format classifying the assets and 

liabilities according to current and non-current; 

 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, which classifies costs according to their 

nature, includes, besides the profit or loss for the year, other non-owner changes in equity; 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows is prepared by recognising cash flows from operating 

activities according to the “indirect method”. Accounts linked to third parties are excluded from 

liquidity, in compliance with the provisions for the protection of customer funds envisaged by the 

PSD2 directive. The entry into force of Legislative Decree No. 218 of 15 December 2017 resulted 
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in the implementation of Directive 205/2366/EU in Italy relating to payment services in the internal 

market; in particular, the revised article 114-duodecies of the consolidated banking law extends the 

safeguards already in force for all funds received from payment service users, even for funds not 

registered in payment accounts. 

 the statement of changes in consolidated equity 

Where necessary, reclassifications of the comparative values were carried out for a more correct 

representation of the equity, financial and economic position in compliance with the accounting 

standards adopted.  

2.2 Going concern  

The year 2021 closed with a loss of Euro 39,990 thousand. Consolidated equity as at 31 December 

2021 was a negative Euro 280,316 thousand and net working capital at the same date was a negative 

Euro 101,675 thousand. 

The 2021 results were affected by net non-recurring and extraordinary expenses of about Euro 22.8 

million, mainly relating to charges for company reorganisation and acquisitions, as well as activities 

related to the launch of new products and business lines carried out by the Group during the year.  

With regard to working capital, it should be mentioned that the business of the Group is characterised 

by a financial cycle in which the cash flows payable to the partners are mainly taken up by the network 

in advance of the relative obligation of payment. Therefore, the presence of a negative working capital 

should be considered an ongoing phenomenon of the Group. 

With reference to the debit position, the following table shows the Group’s structure, between capital 

resources and debt to third parties, essentially in line with the structure set up at the end of the previous 

year, when the Mooney Group was established. 

The loans received, particularly the floating-rate bond, will expire in 2026. 

At 31 December   

(in Euro thousands and as percentage of total debt and equity) 2021 2020 

Long-term debt        871,678       833,930 

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt           76,529          68,338 

Funding from related parties        343,721 51.5%       317,499 47.9%

Funding from third parties        604,487 90.5%       584,770 88.2%

Equity       (280,316) -42%      (239,360) -36.1%

Total debt and equity        667,892 100.0%       662,909 100.0%
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It should be noted that Loans from related parties include around Euro 119.5 million relating to loans to 

the majority shareholder SG2 Group S.p.A., which took over from Sisal S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Group 

S.p.A.) following the previously mentioned demerger and around Euro 222.2 million relating to a loan 

obtained from the minority shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A., both arising following the acquisition of the 

investments held by the two aforementioned shareholders in Mooney S.p.A. and in Mooney Servizi 

S.p.A. following the transfer of business units to the latter. 

With reference to the market context, in the current year, the addressable market as a whole reached 

248 billion in turnover, showing a growth of around 1% compared to 2020, a year that was particularly 

affected by the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. This recovery was driven by the Proximity Retail and 

Digital channels in which the Group operates and which also project a further growth trend into the 

future.   

The Mobility market, in which the Group made its entry following the acquisition in 2020 of control of the 

Pluservice group, also recorded a significant recovery in 2021 compared to the levels of the previous 

year; in particular, the reference market consisting of the mobility segments covered by the current 

Mooney offer through myCicero and the segments for which the offer is being developed (Parking, Local 

Public Transport, Long-distance Buses, Trains, Taxis, Mobility Sharing), in addition to the Toll segment, 

in 2021 recorded a rebound of about 26% up to a value of Euro 16.4 billion, thanks to a recovery in all 

its segments. 

On the basis of the assessments carried out with particular reference to the current and expected 

profitability of the Group and to the plans for the repayment of debt, the directors therefore believe that 

there is the reasonable expectation that the Group will continue its operating activities in the foreseeable 

future and will be able to meet its financial commitments, and in any case for a period of time beyond 

twelve months, and has therefore prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis. 

Impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic 

2021 was the second year impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  

To protect public health and limit the spread of the virus, the Government issued new provisions on the 

containment and management of the epidemiological emergency, which sanctioned a state of health 

emergency for the whole of 2021. The main government interventions are listed below: 

- The Council of Ministers of 4 January 2021 introduced a ban on travel between different Regions 

or Autonomous Provinces, except for proven work needs, for the 7-15 January period 

- The Law Decree of 14 January 2021 extended the national state of emergency to 30 April 2021, 

confirmed the ban on travel between different Regions or Autonomous Provinces until 15 

February 2021 and established a national information platform on the vaccine plan 

- The Law Decree of 23 February 2021 extended the ban on travel between Regions or 

Autonomous Provinces until 27 March 2021 
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- The Council of Ministers of 12 March 2021 ordered the application of the restrictions envisaged 

for orange zones to yellow zones and imposed the passage to the red zone if the cumulative 

weekly incidence of infections exceeded 250 infections per 100,000 inhabitants 

- The Council of Ministers of 23 April 2021 extended the national state of emergency to 31 July 

2021 

- The Council of Ministers of 22 July 2021 extended the national state of emergency to 31 

December 2021 and introduced the procedures for using the Green Pass 

- The Council of Ministers of 24 November 2021 approved a Decree Law that introduced urgent 

measures to contain the "fourth wave" of the pandemic, regulating the vaccination obligation, 

extending it to new categories, establishing the enhanced Green Pass 

- The Council of Ministers of 15 December 2021 approved a Decree Law extending the national 

state of emergency to 31 March 2022 

The persistence of the state of emergency has negatively impacted the retail sector, generating store 

closure rates higher than historical standards and a reduction in mobility and consequently in traffic at 

the points of sale. It is estimated that in 2021, Covid had a negative impact for the Mooney Group, in 

terms of EBITDA, of approximately Euro 10.6 million, generated both by higher store closure rates and 

by a reduction in the footprint linked to limitations imposed by the Government to protect public health. 

In this emergency scenario, the Group has moved in multiple directions: 

a. to protect its employees, by implementing the CSR action plan, retaining the extensive adoption 

of smart working throughout the course of 2021, arranging for the total closure of offices in some 

periods and limiting access to them in others; 

b. in support of the Business and to guarantee the achievement of the expected results, by 

implementing an operational plan aimed on the one hand to contain expenses in the event that 

the persistence of the pandemic had significantly impacted revenues, and on the other aimed 

at expanding the range of products offered in order to support volumes and traffic at points of 

sale; finally, by continuing to develop the digital offer aimed at a greater diversification of the 

offer and the expansion of the digital consumer base;  

c. to protect the distribution network by carrying out a plan of new store openings aimed at 

offsetting the higher closure rate caused by the pandemic. 

The actions implemented led the Group to exceed expectations, generating significant growth in terms 

of turnover (revenues net of the remuneration paid to the distribution chains + 25% compared to the 

same figure for 2020) and margins (EBITDA + 18% compared to 2020). 

2.3 Scope of consolidation and consolidation principles  

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent and the financial 

statements of its subsidiaries, approved by their relative boards. The companies included in the scope 

of consolidation at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are reported as follows: 
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Companies included in the scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2021 

% Direct and Indirect 
ownership at 31 

December 

Name  Headquarters Share capital 2021

Mooney Group S.p.A. (Parent Company) Milan € 10,050,000

Mooney S.p.A. Milan € 86,658,331 100.00%

Mooney Servizi S.p.A. Milan € 8,549,999 100.00%

Pluservice S.r.l. Senigallia (Ancona) € 450,000 51.00%

myCicero S.r.l. Senigallia (Ancona) € 1,142,857 65.70%

Companies included in the scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2020 

% Direct and Indirect 
ownership at 31 

December 

Name  Headquarters Share capital 2020

Mooney Group S.p.A. (Parent Company) Milan € 10,050,000

Mooney S.p.A. Milan € 86,658,331 100.00%

Mooney Servizi S.p.A. Milan € 8,549,999 100.00%

Pluservice S.r.l. Senigallia (Ancona) € 450,000 51.00%

myCicero S.r.l. Senigallia (Ancona) € 1,142,857 65.70%

Note that the following companies were included in the scope of consolidation in 2021: 

Mooney Group S.p.A.: consolidating company, with registered office in Milan. The company, whose 

share capital is 70% owned by SG2 S.p.A., with the remaining 30% owned by Banca 5 S.p.A., is a 

holding company for the investments in the entire share capital of Mooney S.p.A. and Mooney Servizi 

S.p.A. and holds the bond with a nominal value of Euro 530 million.  

Mooney S.p.A.: company with registered office in Milan, 100% owned by the company Mooney Group 

S.p.A. and accredited by the Bank of Italy as an Institute of Electronic Money. The company name, 

before the change made in March 2021, was SisalPay S.p.A. 

Mooney Servizi S.p.A.: a company with registered office in Milan, 100% owned by the Group through 

Mooney Group S.p.A. which operates in the marketing of top-ups for telephone and TV content and 

other services not supervised by the Bank of Italy. The company name, before the change made in 

March 2021, was SisalPay Services S.p.A. 

Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l.: companies have their registered office in Sinigallia. On 31 July 

2020, the acquisition of 51% of the company Pluservice S.r.l. by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. was completed. 

The acquired company holds 70% of the shares of myCicero S.r.l., of which Mooney Servizi S.p.A. 

already held the remaining 30%. Following the acquisition of Pluservice S.r.l., the Group also obtained 

indirect control of myCicero S.r.l. 
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For additional details on the main changes in the scope of consolidation during the year under 

examination, see Note 6, “Business combinations”. 

Below is a brief description of the criteria used for the consolidation. 

Subsidiaries 

Based on the provisions of IFRS 10, control exists when the Parent holds, directly or indirectly, the 

decision-making power over the subsidiary or has rights or liability with respect to variable returns 

deriving from its relations with the entity concerned and, at the same time, is able to affect such returns 

by exercising its power over that entity. The subsidiaries are consolidated using the line-by-line method 

starting from the date that control commences until the date that control is transferred to a third party. 

The closing date of all subsidiaries’ financial statements coincides with that of the Parent. The principles 

adopted for line-by-line consolidation are as follows: 

 the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-

line basis, attributing to the non-controlling interests, where applicable, their share of equity and 

profit or loss for the year, which is shown separately in equity and in the income statement; 

 the business combinations in which control is acquired are recorded as set out in IFRS 3 – 

Business Combinations by applying the acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition cost is 

represented by the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities assumed and equity instruments 

issued at the acquisition date. The identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date except for deferred tax assets and 

liabilities, assets and liabilities for employee benefits, and assets held for sale which are recognised 

on the basis of the relative accounting standards. The difference between the acquisition cost and 

the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, if positive, is recognised in intangible assets as 

goodwill, or, if negative, after reviewing the fair value measurements of the assets and liabilities 

acquired, is recognised directly in the income statement, as income. Transaction costs are recorded 

in the income statement when incurred;

 the acquisition cost also includes contingent consideration measured at fair value at the control 

acquisition date. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement or the 

statement of comprehensive income if the contingent consideration is a financial asset or liability. If 

the contingent consideration is classified as equity, the original amount is not re-measured and when 

extinguished is recorded directly in equity; 

 non-controlling interests in equity and in the profit (loss) are shown as separate items in the 

financial statements. At the acquisition date, non-controlling interests can be measured at either the 

acquisition date fair value or according to the proportionate share of the net identifiable assets of 

the acquired entity. The choice in the measurement method for non-controlling interests is decided 

on a transaction-by-transaction basis. If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group 
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re-measures any previously held interest in the acquired entity at acquisition date fair value and any 

resultant gain or loss is recognised in the income statement as appropriate; 

 changes in non-controlling interests in a subsidiary that do not constitute an acquisition or a loss 

of control are accounted for as equity transactions. Therefore, for purchases subsequent to the 

acquisition of control and the partial disposal of a subsidiary without loss of control, any positive or 

negative difference between the purchase cost/sales price and the corresponding share of equity is 

recognised directly in the equity attributable to owners of the Parent; 

 in the case of the partial disposal of a subsidiary resulting in the loss of control, the investment 

retained is adjusted to fair value and the revaluation forms part of the gain or loss on the transaction; 

 significant gains and losses (including the related tax effects) resulting from transactions 

between fully consolidated companies which have not yet been realised with third parties are 

eliminated. Receivables and payables, costs and revenues, and finance income and expenses 

between companies included in the consolidation are also eliminated, if significant. 

2.4 Accounting Policies 

A brief description is provided of the most significant accounting policies and principles used in the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition or production costs including directly chargeable 

incidental expenses necessary to bring the asset to use. Cost comprises the finance expenses directly 

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of the asset. Cost also includes the expected 

costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring it to its original condition if a contractual 

obligation exists. 

The expenses incurred for ordinary and/or cyclical maintenance and repairs are charged directly to the 

income statement in the year incurred. The capitalisation of costs inherent in the expansion, 

modernisation or improvement of the structural elements owned or used by third parties is made solely 

to the extent that they meet the conditions for being classified separately as an asset or part of an asset 

under the component approach method. 

The 2017 Budget Law introduced in Italy, starting from 2018, the possibility for taxpayers established in 

the territory of Italy to become a single taxpayer for VAT purposes, by virtue of an option exercised by 

such parties. The Decree of the Ministry of Economy and Finance of 6 April 2018 implemented that law, 

which, in turn, had transposed into Italian law the European Group VAT rules. The Group applied this 

new concept already starting in 2019. This concept overcomes the pre-existing distinctions within the 

Group between companies that exercised the option to dispense with obligations for transactions 

exempted under art. 36 bis of Presidential Decree 633/72 and companies using the pro-rata regime. As 
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a result, non-recoverable VAT, determined under the new Group VAT regime, supplements the 

acquisition cost of an asset at the time of its capitalisation on a provisional group pro-rata basis and, if 

necessary, is adjusted at year end in relation to the definitive determination of the pro-rata amount for 

the year. 

The above assets are depreciated systematically each year on a straight-line basis at economic and 

technical rates calculated according to the assets’ estimated useful lives. When the depreciable asset 

is composed of distinctly identifiable elements, the useful life of which differs significantly from that of 

the other parts which compose the asset, depreciation is taken separately for each of the parts which 

make up the asset under the component approach principle. 

The estimated useful life by class of property, plant and equipment is as follows: 

Class of property, plant and equipment Useful life in years 

Buildings 33 

Plant 3-10 

Equipment  5-8 

Other assets: 

- vehicles 4-5 

- furniture and fixtures 3-8

- electronic office equipment 5 

Leasehold improvements 
the shorter of the estimated useful 
life of the asset and the term of the 
lease contract 

As regards the average duration of IFRS16 contracts, please refer to the paragraph “Liabilities for leased 

assets”.

Depreciation starts when the asset is ready for use, taking into account the time at which such condition 

actually arises.

Leased assets 

A lease is a contract or part of a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. 

The rights of use of leased assets and the lease liabilities represent, respectively, an asset representing 

the right of use of the Company of the asset owned by third parties and a liability that represents the 

obligation to make the payments set out in the contract. Both items are recognised in the financial 

statements starting on the date that the asset is made available for use by the Company, up to the most 

recent date between the end of the useful life of the right of use and the lease term. Nonetheless, where 

the lease transfers ownership of the leased asset to the lessee at the end of the lease term or if the 

value of the right-of-use asset also considers the fact that the lessee will exercise the purchase option, 

the right of use is systematically depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 

The Group defined the lease term as the period of the contract that cannot be cancelled, also considering 

the periods covered by an option to extend the lease, if the Company is reasonably certain it will exercise 
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that option. In particular, in assessing the reasonable certainty that the renewal option will be exercised, 

the Group considered all the relevant factors that create an economic incentive to exercise the renewal 

option. 

The lease liability is recognised initially at an amount equal to the present value of the lease payments 

due and not yet paid at the commencement date, including fixed payments net of any lease incentives 

to be received, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, the estimate of the payment 

by the lessee as a guarantee of the residual value, payment of the purchase option exercise price, if the 

lessee is reasonably certain to exercise it, and payment of contractual penalties for termination of the 

lease, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option. The present value of future payments 

is calculated adopting a discount rate equal to the interest rate implicit in the lease or, where this cannot 

be easily determined, using the incremental borrowing rate of the Company. Following initial recognition, 

the carrying amount of the lease liability increases due to the interest allocated during each period and 

decreases following payments made. This is also restated, as a contra-entry to the carrying amount of 

the related asset, where there is a change in the lease payments due as a result of contractual 

renegotiations, changes to indexes or rates, or changes in the assessment of whether the options set 

out in the contract will be exercised, including the option to extend the contract. The interest component 

is recognised as a finance expense over the entire lease term and is determined based on the effective 

interest method. The right of use is initially recognised at cost, determined at a value equal to the initial 

amount of the lease liability, adding to this the direct costs initially incurred by the lessee, any payments 

made at or before the commencement date, net of any incentives received from the lessor, direct costs 

incurred and the estimate of the costs expected to be incurred for dismantling. The right of use is 

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter period of the estimated useful life of the asset and 

the term of the underlying lease contract. The Group applies the requirements for the impairment of the 

right-of-use assets set out in IAS 36, “Impairment of Assets”. 

The Group applies the practical exemption permitted for short-term leases and for low-value leases, 

recognising the payments relating to those types of leases in the income statement as operating costs 

over the term of the lease contract. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets that are without physical substance, identifiable, controllable 

and have the capacity to produce future economic benefits. Such assets are initially recognised at 

purchase and/or construction cost, including directly attributable expenses to prepare the asset for use. 

Interest expenses, if any, during and for the development of intangible assets are considered part of the 

acquisition cost. In particular, the following intangible assets can be identified in the Group: 

(a) Goodwill 

In brief, goodwill represents the set of future economic benefits deriving from assets acquired in a 

business combination that cannot be individually identified and recognised separately. It is measured 

as the excess of the amount of the consideration transferred measured at fair value and the value of 
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non-controlling interests, compared to the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, net of potential 

liabilities assumed, at the acquisition date. 

Any negative difference (badwill) is, instead, immediately recognised in the income statement at the 

time of acquisition, as income from the transaction concluded. 

Goodwill deriving from business combinations is not amortised but is subject to periodic tests to identify 

any impairment, in accordance with that described in the paragraph “Impairment of property, plant and 

equipment, and intangible assets” below.  

In order to verify the presence of impairment, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

allocated, from the acquisition date, to the single-cash generating units or to the groups of cash-

generating units that should benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other 

assets and liabilities of the acquired company are assigned to those units or groups of units. Those tests 

are conducted at least annually. 

No other intangible assets with indefinite useful life are recognised in the financial statements in addition 

to goodwill. 

(b) Other intangible assets with a finite useful life 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are recognised at cost, as described previously, net of 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Amortisation starts when the asset is available 

for use and is charged systematically over the residual period of benefit, that is, over the estimated 

useful life. The estimated useful life for the various classes of intangible assets is as follows: 

Class of intangible asset Useful life in years 

Patent rights and intellectual property 3-8

Software user licenses 3 

Retail network and services contract network 20

Brand  3-20

The costs relating to the development of new products and sales channels, particularly with reference 

to software (for example, the website software used to manage online payment services), are also 

capitalised. In accordance with IFRS, such costs are capitalised since it is believed that the estimated 

future economic benefits linked to the turnover from services, also online, is able to sustain the amount 

capitalised. 

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(a) Goodwill 

As mentioned previously, goodwill is subject to an Impairment Test annually or more frequently 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired. 
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Impairment testing is conducted on the goodwill allocated to each Cash-Generating Unit (“CGU”) 

monitored by management. An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised when the carrying amount 

exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated is 

the higher of fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, intended as the present value of future 

cash flows estimated for the asset in question. In calculating the value in use, the estimated future cash 

flows are discounted to present value using a discount rate before taxes that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money, proportionate to the investment period, and the risks specific 

to the asset. If the impairment loss is higher than the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU, 

the excess is applied to the other assets of the CGU in proportion to their carrying amount.  

The carrying amount of an asset should not be reduced below the highest of: 

 the fair value of the asset less costs to sell; 

 the value in use, as defined above; 

 zero. 

The reversal of a previous goodwill impairment loss is not permitted. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets with a finite useful life 

At every closing date, the Group assesses whether there are any indications of impairment of property, 

plant and equipment, and intangible assets. Both internal and external sources of information are used 

for this purpose. Internal sources include obsolescence or physical damage, and significant changes in 

the use of the asset and the economic performance of the asset compared to estimated performance. 

External sources include the market value of the asset, changes in technology, markets or laws, trend 

in market interest rates and the cost of capital used to evaluate investments. 

When indicators of impairment exist, the carrying amount of the assets is reduced to the recoverable 

amount and any impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. The recoverable amount of an 

asset is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, the latter being the present value 

of future cash flows estimated for the asset in question. In calculating the value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to present value using a discount rate before taxes that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money, proportionate to the investment period, and the risks 

specific to the asset. For assets that do not generate largely independent cash flows, the Group 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment loss 

is recognised in the income statement. The impairment loss is first recognised as a deduction of the 

carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit and then only applied to the other 

assets of the cash generating unit in proportion to their carrying amount, up to the recoverable amount 

of the assets with a finite useful life. When the conditions that gave rise to an impairment loss no longer 

exist, the carrying amount of the asset is re-recognised in the income statement, up to the carrying 



17 

amount that would have been recorded had no impairment loss been recognised and if normal 

amortisation/depreciation been applied. 

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  

Trade receivables and other financial assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Trade receivables and other financial 

assets are included in current assets, except for those with a contractual due date beyond twelve months 

after the date of the financial statements, which are classified as non-current assets. 

Impairment losses on receivables are recognised in the financial statements according to the expected 

credit loss method, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9. In particular, the impairment on trade 

receivables and on contract assets is carried out through the simplified approach, which provides for 

estimating the expected loss throughout the life of the receivable at the time of the initial recognition and 

in the subsequent valuations. For each customer segment, the estimate is carried out mainly through 

the determination of the average expected non-collectability, based on historical-statistical indicators, 

which may be adjusted using prospective elements. For some categories of receivables characterised 

by peculiar risk elements, instead, specific valuations are carried out on the individual credit positions.   

If in subsequent periods the reasons for the impairment cease to exist, the asset value is reinstated up 

to the amount that would have been recognised had amortised cost been applied. 

Financial assets, relating to non-derivative financial instruments, with fixed or determinable payments 

and fixed maturity dates, which the Company intends and has the ability to hold until maturity, are 

classified as “hold to collect” assets. 

Such assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, adjusted by impairment 

losses, if any. Whenever there are impairment losses, the same principles as described above for loans 

and receivables are applied. 

Other financial assets, including investments in other companies, classified as “hold to collect and sell”

assets are measured at fair value, if determinable, and profits and losses deriving from changes in fair 

value are attributed directly to other components of comprehensive income until they are disposed of or 

impaired. At that point, the other components of comprehensive income previously recognised in equity 

are attributed to the income statement for the period. Dividends received by investments in other 

companies are included under the item financial income. 

INVENTORIES 

Inventories of rolls of paper for terminals and replacement parts are stated at the purchase cost, using 

the weighted average cost method.  

The inventories of virtual and scratch top-up cards for telephone and television content are stated at the 

weighted average cost of the purchase prices. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
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Restricted bank deposits deriving from funds received from customers in compliance with the directive 

known as PSD2, as part of the services rendered by Mooney S.p.A. as an e-money institution, are 

reported separately under cash and cash equivalents.  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and available bank deposits and other forms of short-term 

investments, with original due dates equal to or less than three months. Cash and cash equivalents are 

recorded, according to their nature, at their nominal amount or at amortised cost. 

DEBT AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Debt and other financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value, net of directly attributable incidental 

expenses, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. If there is 

a change in the estimate of expected cash flows, the value of the liabilities is re-measured to account 

for this change on the basis of the present value of the new cash flows expected and the effective 

interest rate determined initially. Financial liabilities are classified within current liabilities, except those 

with contractual maturities due beyond twelve months of the reporting date and those for which the 

Group has an unconditional right to defer payment for at least twelve months after that date.  

Financial liabilities are recognised at the transaction date and are derecognised when paid and when 

the Group has transferred all the risks and expenses related to the instruments. 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Short-term benefits are represented by salaries and wages, social security contributions, indemnities in 

lieu of holidays and incentives in the form of bonuses payable in the twelve months subsequent to the 

date of the financial statements. Such benefits are recognised as components of personnel costs in the 

period in which their services are rendered. 

Post-employment benefits are divided into two categories: defined contribution plans and defined benefit 

plans.  

In defined contribution plans, contributory costs are charged to the income statement as they occur, 

based on the relative nominal value.  

In defined benefit plans, which include severance indemnities due to employees regulated by art. 2120 

of the Italian Civil Code, the amount of the benefit to be paid is quantifiable only after termination of 

employment, and associated with one or more factors such as age, the years of service and 

compensation. Therefore, the relative cost is charged to the statement of comprehensive income based 

on actuarial computations. The liability recorded in the financial statements for defined benefit plans 

corresponds to the present value of the obligation at the reporting date. The obligations for defined 

benefit plans are determined annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. 

The present value of defined benefit plans is determined by discounting future cash flows at an interest 

rate equal to high-quality corporate bonds issued in Euro which take into account the period of the 

relative pension plan. 
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Starting from 1 January 2007, the Finance Law 2007 and the relative implementing decrees introduced 

amendments concerning employee severance indemnities. The amendments include the decision of 

employees as to the allocation of their accruing indemnities. In particular, new flows of employee 

severance indemnities can be directed by the employee either to pre-chosen pension funds or retained 

in the company. In the case of external pension funds, the payment of the defined contribution will be 

made to the fund and starting from such date the new amounts accrued have the nature of defined 

contribution funds not subject to actuarial measurement. 

Starting from 1 January 2013, following the adoption of IAS 19 – Employee Benefits, changes in actuarial 

gains and losses are recognised in other statement of comprehensive income items. 

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 

Provisions for risks and charges are set up to cover losses or liabilities whose existence is certain or 

probable but which at the end of the reporting period are uncertain as to amount or as to the date on 

which they will arise. Provisions are recognised only when there is a current obligation (legal or 

constructive) for a future outflow of resources deriving from a past event and it is probable that the 

outflow will be necessary to fulfil the obligation. This amount represents the best estimate of the present 

value of expenditures required to settle the obligation. If the effect of the time value is material, and the 

payment date of the obligations can be reasonably estimated, provisions to be accrued are the present 

value of the expected cash flows, using a rate which reflects market conditions, the change in the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the cost of 

money over time is recognised as interest expense. 

RECOGNITION OF REVENUES  

The method for recognising revenues, based on standard IFRS 15, is divided into five steps:  

▪ the identification of the contract with the customer: the standard's provisions are applicable to each 

individual contract, except in the cases where the standard itself requires the entity to consider several 

contracts jointly and consequently provides for their relative recognition;  

▪ the identification of the separate performance obligations, or contractual promises to transfer goods 

and/or services contained in the contract;  

▪ the determination of the transaction price. In case of variable compensation, this must be estimated 

by the entity to the extent in which it is highly probable that when the uncertainty associated with the 

variable compensation is subsequently resolved it does not cause a significant downward adjustment 

of the amount of cumulative revenues recognised;  

▪ the allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations identified, on the basis 

of the relative stand-alone sale price of each product or service;  

▪ the recognition of revenue at the time and/or to the extent in which the relative separate performance 

obligation is satisfied.  
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Revenues are recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration received. Any fee variable 

components, relating by way of example to year-end adjustments and variable incentives, are included 

in the fee if they can be reliably determined and if it is reasonably certain that this component will not be 

reversed in subsequent periods. 

The asset is transferred when, or during the period in which, the customer acquires control of it. 

The service is transferred to the customer and therefore revenues can be recognised: 

- at a specific time, when the entity fulfils its obligation to perform by transferring the promised good or 

service to the customer, or 

- over time, as the entity fulfils its obligation by transferring the promised good or service to the customer. 

In particular: 

- commission income from points of sale, networks or digital platforms are recognised in the Income 

Statement on an accruals basis, based on the negotiation date of the expenses incurred by end 

customers; 

- revenues connected with recurring services are distributed on a straight-line basis over the duration of 

the contracts to which they refer; 

The revenues accrued by the Company in the resale of telephone top-ups and television content are 

recognised in an amount equal to the difference between the sale price and the nominal cost of the 

cards. The cost relating to the purchase of the same is therefore recognised as an adjustment to the 

gross revenue recorded, operating the Company as an "agent": 

- revenues for activities related to development projects specifically requested by customers are 

recognised during the development activity (over time) if the following requirements are met: 

a. the customer simultaneously receives and uses the benefits deriving from the performance along the 

provision of the service; 

b. the service is carried out on activities under the customer's control; 

c. the activity object of the service has no alternative uses and the Group has the right to be remunerated 

for the work carried out up to that moment;  

otherwise, the costs and revenues of the project are suspended and recognised at the end of the design 

phase. 

In the case of contracts in which different separate performance obligations are identified, transaction 

prices are allocated to the identified performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone 

sales prices of each good or service included in the contract. 

COST OF GOODS PURCHASED AND SERVICES PERFORMED 

Purchases of goods and the performance of services are recognised in the income statement on an 

accrual basis.  
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Commission expenses, other than those included in the amortised cost of financial instruments, are 

recognised when they are incurred or when the revenues to which they refer are recorded.  

Non-deductible VAT, calculated on the basis of the pro-rata coefficient, is similar to a general cost and 

recognised in other operating costs, when it relates to the purchase of goods and services classified 

under cost items, while it is recognised as an increase in the asset in the event of purchases relating to 

intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. 

INCOME TAXES 

Income taxes are allocated on the basis of an estimate of the tax expense for the year according to 

current laws. The corresponding liability is shown under “Taxes payable”.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on the temporary differences between the carrying 

amount of an asset or a liability in the financial statements and its tax base, except for first-time 

recognition of goodwill and for those differences related to investments in associates when the reversal 

of such differences is under the control of the Group and it is probable that they will not reverse in the 

reasonably foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied by the same tax authority, 

there is a legally enforceable right of offset and settlement of the net balance is expected. If the net 

amount is an asset it is shown as “deferred tax assets” and if a liability as “deferred tax liabilities”. When 

the effects of a transaction are credited or charged directly to equity, the related current and deferred 

taxes are also recognised directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based on tax rates that are expected to apply in the 

period in which the asset is recovered or settled to the extent that such rates have been approved at the 

date of the financial statements.  

Expenses, if any, in connection with litigation with the tax authorities for the portion relating to the evasion 

of taxes and the corresponding penalties is recorded in “income taxes”. 

2.5 Adoption of the new standards  

In drawing up the 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements, the accounting standards, valuation criteria 

and consolidation criteria applied are consistent with those used for the 2020 Consolidated Financial 

Statements, except for what is mentioned below. 

The description and impacts of the standards and interpretations applicable from 1 January 2021 are 

provided below. 

PRINCIPLES, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2021 

The following is a list of the other new standards, interpretations and amendments that have mandatory 

application from 1 January 2021 and that have not had any significant effects on the consolidated 

financial statements as at 31 December 2021: 
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Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations not yet applicable and not adopted in 

advance by the Group 

As at the date of preparation of this document, the following new Standards, Amendments and 

Interpretations had been issued and are not yet applicable and have not been adopted early by the 

Group:  

3. Management of financial risks 

The Group is exposed to: market risk – defined as foreign exchange rate, interest rate and bookmaker 

risk – liquidity risk, credit risk and capital risk.  

The risk management strategy of the Group focuses on minimizing the potential adverse effects on the 

Group’s financial performance. As far as considered necessary, certain types of risk are mitigated by 

using derivative instruments. Risk management is centralised in the Finance function which identifies, 

assesses, and hedges financial risks, in close cooperation with the operating units of the Group. The 

Principles, amendments and interpretations
Applicable 

from
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (issued on 27 August 2020)

1° January 2021

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS19 (issued on 25 
June 2020)

1° January 2021

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Covid-19 - Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 
June 2021(issued on 31 March 2021)

1° april 2021

Principles, amendments and interpretations

Mandatory 
application 

starting from
Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” 1° January 2022
Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” 1° January 2022
Amendments to IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets” 1° January 2022
Amendments to “Annual Improvements 2018-2020” 1° January 2022
Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies 1° January 2023
Amendments to IAS 8 "Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates" 1° January 2023
IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts"; included "Amendments to IFRS 17" 1° January 2023
Amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current" 1° January 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and 
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 1° January 2023
Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts: Initial Application of 
IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative Information” (emesso il 9 dicembre 2021) 1° January 2023
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Finance function provides guidelines for monitoring risk management, just as it provides guidelines for 

specific areas such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk and the use of derivative and non-

derivative instruments. 

With reference to the Covid-19 pandemic, no significant impacts were identified with reference to the 

financial risks to which the Group is exposed, therefore the directors did not consider it appropriate to 

adopt significant changes to the management, risk control and risk assessment systems. 

Instead, effective plans were implemented to guarantee operational continuity and ensure the normal 

functioning of the business, guaranteeing the health and safety of employees and the highest level of 

service for customers. 

For more details, please refer to what is reported below. 

MARKET RISK 

Foreign exchange rate risk 

The Group is mainly active on the Italian market and is therefore exposed to exchange rate risk to a 

limited extent. 

Interest rate risk 

The Group is theoretically exposed to risks linked to fluctuations in interest rates in relation to the short-

term revolving credit line and the FRN medium-term bond, even though the Euribor benchmark index is 

considered nil because it is below zero.  

In particular, the Group normally looks for short-term debt to finance its working capital requirements 

and for medium- and long-term financing to support investments related to its operations and 

extraordinary transactions. The financial liabilities that expose the Group to interest rate risk are mainly 

medium- and long-term loans index-linked to floating rates of interest. Specifically, on the basis of the 

analysis of the Group’s indebtedness, approximately 62% of the debt as at 31 December 2021 is at 

floating rates. 

See Note 34 for additional details.  

Concerning interest rate risk, a sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the effects on income 

statement and equity of hypothetical positive and negative 100 bps variations to current effective interest 

rates.  

The analysis performed related mainly to the following: 

 cash and cash equivalents, with the exclusion of third-party restricted liquidity accounts and as 

well as the settlement of debts towards so-called Service partners; 
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 short-term and medium- and long-term debt, including the related derivative financial 

instruments, where existing. 

Regarding cash and cash equivalents, reference was made to the average balance and the average 

interest rate thereon for the year, while for short-term and medium- and long-term debt the effect was 

calculated at the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements. This analysis also included 

financial payables contracted at fixed rates, as they represent a hedge of interest rate risk even though 

they are not affected by it, for Euro 341,676 thousand in 2021, while no tax impact was considered. 

For the purposes of the analysis, it was not considered necessary to evaluate the -1% negative effect 

as the item of interest income at the end of the financial statements is irrelevant and the item of interest 

expense on the Bond and on the ssRCF takes into account the fixed interest CAP, which cannot be 

contractually lowered. 

At 31 
December 

2021 

2021 

Income Statement Equity 

1% -1% 1% -1% 

profit / (loss) profit / (loss) profit / (loss) profit / (loss)

Net financial debt (880,574) (2,786) 0 (2,786) 0

Total (880,574) (2,786) 0 (2,786) 0

At 31 
December 

2020 

2020 

Income Statement Equity 

1% -1% 1% -1% 

profit / (loss) profit / (loss) profit / (loss) profit / (loss)

Net financial debt (833,166) (2,730) 0 (2,730) 0

Total (833,166) (2,730) 0 (2,730) 0

With specific reference to the direct consequences of the economic crisis caused by the Covid-19 

pandemic, with reference to the interest rate risk, no particular critical issues were identified, also in light 

of the current context characterised by mainly negative short-term interest rates. 

LIQUIDITY RISK 

Liquidity risk is the risk of not being able to fulfil present or future obligations owing to insufficient 

available funds. The Group manages this risk by seeking to establish a balance between outflows of 

cash and the sources of short-term and long-term debt and the distribution of maturities of medium- and 

long-term debt over time. In particular, a prudent management of liquidity risk implies maintaining a 

sufficient level of cash and the availability of funds obtainable through an adequate amount of lines of 

credit. 

As at 31 December 2020, there are credit lines approved and used amounting to Euro 70.5 million, 

attributable to revolving credit facilities. 
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Set out below are the cash flows expected in future years for the repayment of financial liabilities 

subdivided by repayment date as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

Financial Liabilities Disbursements Analysis 

(in Euro/000) 

At 31 
December 

2021
Up to three 

months

More than 
three 

months - up 
to one year

More than 
one year - 
up to five 

years
More than 
five years

Bank debts and payables to other lenders 948,208 74,325 4,013 12,332 875,530 

Trade payables 177,344 153,354 23,990 - -

other payables 100,289 83,998 13,266 3,025 -

Total  1,225,841 311,677 41,269 15,357 875,530

Financial Liabilities Disbursements Analysis 

(in Euro/000) 

At 31 
December 

2020
Up to three 

months

More than 
three 

months - up 
to one year

More than 
one year - 
up to five 

years
More than 
five years

Bank debts and payables to other lenders 902,268 64,170 6,346 9,584 843,394 

Trade payables 209,740 177,753 31,986 - -

other payables 49,324 33,563 12,082 3,679 -

Total  1,161,332 275,486 50,414 13,263 843,394

The flows indicated for loans refer exclusively to the repayments of principal. Actual disbursements will 

be increased by the finance expenses based on the rates applicable to the various loans as summarised 

in Note 34.  

Further, the tables do not include the payments associated with taxes payable which will be paid to the 

tax authorities at due dates established by existing laws or provisions for risks and charges. 

During the year, the Group complied with all the clauses stated in the existing loan agreements. 

With specific reference to the impacts deriving from the Covid-19 pandemic on the Group's liquidity risk, 

no critical elements have been identified as the level of liquidity available is adequate to meet the 

Group's financial needs and investment plans. It should also be noted that the Group has a credit line 

with credit institutions (Revolving Credit Facility) that was unused at the balance sheet date for an 

amount equal to Euro 22 million.  

CREDIT RISK 

Potential credit risk in commercial relations existing mainly with the points of sale, under partnership

contracts, is mitigated by specific selection procedures for points of sale, by imposing operating limits 

on the collections through terminals and by daily controls over changes in credit which provide for the 

blocking of the terminal in the event of non-payment and the revocation of the authorisation to operate 

as a Mooney outlet in the event of recurrent non-payment. 
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The amount of financial assets that the Group does not expect to collect is covered by the provisions 

for the impairment of receivables. 

Current trade receivables at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are analysed by macro-class of homogeneous 

risk in the following table: 

At 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Receivables from points of sale (outlets) 59,690 22,800 

Other receivables 24,816 23,912 

Provision for impairment of receivables (17,407) (10,148)

Total 67,100 36,564 

 Receivables from points of sale (outlets) essentially represent amounts due from payments and 

other services referring to the last few days of the year and the relative receivables arising from the 

automated weekly collections of the preceding periods that have gone unpaid. The large number of 

outlets exposes the Group to a partial uncollectability risk which, following suitable evaluation by the 

directors, has duly been covered by a specific provision for impairment of trade receivables. 

 Other receivables include receivables from suppliers of services for distribution fees, 

receivables from third-party customers for integrated digital solutions to transport companies and 

mobility services, insurance receivables, receivables from employees and other receivables not included 

in the previous classes. There are no specific forms of credit risk for the Group associated with this 

category.  

Intercompany receivables, receivables due from the Sisal Group and tax receivables have been 

excluded from this analysis as no significant risk profile is believed to exist. 

Risk exposure

Exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2021 and 2020, analysed by reference to the ageing of 

receivables, is as follows:  

Ageing of Receivables  

(in Euro/000)  
 At 31 

December 
2021 

Current 
past due up to 

90 days 
past due 90-

180 days 
past due more 
than 180 days 

Trade receivables              72,791              44,482              12,317                2,892              13,100 

Provision for impairment of 
receivables

           (12,415)
- (1,292) (1,209) (9,914)

Net value              60,376              44,482              11,025                1,682                3,186 

Other receivables              11,716                4,942                   621 
-

               6,153 

Provision for impairment of 
receivables (4,992) - - - (4,992)

Net value                6,724                4,942                   621 
-

               1,161 

Total              67,100              49,424              11,646                1,682                4,347 



27 

Ageing of Receivables  

(in Euro/000) 

 At 31 December 
2020 

Current 
past due up to 

90 days 
past due 90-

180 days 

past due 
more than 
180 days

Trade receivables 33,607 24,334 3,746 1,501 4,027

Provision for impairment of receivables (5,156) - (1,840) (508) (2,808)

Net value 28,451 24,334 1,905 993 1,220

Other receivables 13,104 6,565 694 702 5,144

Provision for impairment of receivables (4,992) - - - (4,992)

Net value 8,112 6,565 694 702 152

Total 36,564 30,898 2,599 1,694 1,372

Past-due trade receivables not covered by provisions represent balances on which the Group believes 

an insignificant risk of uncollectability to exist. As already mentioned, the Group monitors credit risk 

mainly existing with the outlets through specific procedures for selecting points of sale, by assigning 

operating limits for wagers on the terminal and by daily control over changes in credit which provides for 

the blocking of the terminal in the event of non-payment and the revocation of the authorisation to 

operate as a Mooney outlet in the event of recurrent non-payment. 

With reference to the impacts deriving from the Covid-19 pandemic, as at the balance sheet date, 

despite a context of significant economic uncertainty, which also led to potentially critical credit items 

recovery situations, the management considers the impacts on credit risk of the events deriving from 

the pandemic to be contained, also by virtue of risk management policies, monitoring activities and 

remedial actions implemented by the Group. 

CAPITAL RISK 

The objective of the Group in the management of capital risk is principally that of guaranteeing returns 

to the shareholders and ensuring benefits to the other stakeholders while protecting going concern.  

The size of the debt of the Group, deriving from the extraordinary operation described above, was 

decided on the basis of the assessment of the Group’s capacity to generate a steady profit and financial 

flows sufficient to repay the debt and settle the related expenses but also provide cash flows from 

operating and investing activities for the development of the business. 

Moreover, in the presence of investment opportunities aimed at increasing the value and the stability of 

the Group, characteristics of its shareholders, which, in turn, are connected with operators of absolute 

international importance in the financial markets, enable the Company and the Group to take advantage 

of such opportunities through recourse to risk capital. 
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CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Financial assets and liabilities by category at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are presented in the following 

table: 

At 31 December 2021 

(in Euro thousands) 

Loans and 
receivables Investments 

held to 
maturity

Financial 
assets or 
liabilities 

at fair 
value 

Total 
financial 
assets or 
liabilities 

Non-
financial 
assets 

and 
liabilities TOTAL 

Current financial assets -

Trade receivables 60,376 60,376 60,376 

Other assets (current and non-current)  12,799 12,799 343 13,141 

Restricted bank deposits 98,062 98,062 98,062 

Cash and cash equivalents  67,633 67,633 67,633 

Total assets  238,870 238,870 343 239,212 

Debt (current and non-current)  948,207 948,207 948,207 

Trade payables and other payables 177,344 177,344 177,344 

Other liabilities (current and non-current)  99,790 99,790 2,713 102,503 

Total liabilities 1,225,341 1,225,341 2,713 1,228,054 

At 31 December 2020 

(in Euro thousands) 

Loans and 
receivables Investments 

held to 
maturity

Financial 
assets or 
liabilities 

at fair 
value 

Total 
financial 
assets or 
liabilities 

Non-
financial 
assets 

and 
liabilities TOTAL 

Current financial assets -

Trade receivables 76,610 76,610 76,610 

Other assets (current and non-current)  13,515 13,515 495 14,010 

Restricted bank deposits 61,142 61,142 61,142 

Cash and cash equivalents  69,103 69,103 69,103 

Total assets  220,371 220,371 495 220,865 

Debt (current and non-current)  902,269 902,269 902,269 

Trade payables and other payables 209,738 209,738 209,738 

Other liabilities (current and non-current)  49,024 49,024 2,054 51,078 

Total liabilities 1,161,031 1,161,031 2,054 1,163,085 

During the years under review, the Group did not reclassify any financial assets among the various 

categories.  



29 

For trade receivables and payables and other short-term receivables and payables, the carrying amount 

is considered not to be significantly different from their fair value. At 31 December 2021, the market 

price of the senior secured notes (level 1 in the fair value hierarchy) was a total of approximately Euro 

533.8 million compared to a nominal value of Euro 530 million.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

The fair value of financial instruments listed in an active market is based on the market prices at the 

reporting date. The fair value of instruments not listed in an active market is determined using valuation 

techniques based on a series of methods and assumptions connected with market conditions at the 

reporting date. 

The classification of financial instruments based on a hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 

in the determination of fair value is the following: 

 Level 1: Fair value based on inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) on active markets for 

identical financial instruments;  

 Level 2: Fair value based on measurement methods referring to variables observable on active 

markets; 

 Level 3: Fair value based on measurement techniques referring to unobservable market 

variables.  

There were no assets and liabilities that are measured using the fair value method at 31 December 2021 

and 2020.   

4. Use of estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that management apply accounting 

standards and methods which, under certain circumstances, are based on difficult subjective 

measurements and estimates based on past experience and on assumptions considered, at various 

times, to be reasonable and realistic in terms of the respective circumstances. The use of such estimates 

and assumptions affects the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements (the statement 

of financial position, the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of cash flows) and also 

disclosure. Actual results for those areas requiring management judgement or estimates may differ from 

those recorded in the financial statements due to the occurrence of events and the uncertainties which 

characterise the assumptions and conditions on which the estimates are based. 

The areas that require greater subjectivity of management in making estimates and for which a change 

in the conditions of the underlying assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements 

are briefly described below.  
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Goodwill 

In accordance with its adopted accounting policies and procedures for impairment, the Group tests 

goodwill at least annually if there is any indication that the goodwill may be impaired. The recoverable 

amount is determined on the basis of the calculation of the value in use. This calculation requires the 

use of estimates that depend on factors which may vary over time and influence the assessments made 

by the directors.  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and amortisation of intangible assets 

The cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is depreciated/amortised on a straight-

line basis over the estimated useful life of each asset. The economic useful life of these assets is 

determined at the time of purchase, based on historical experience for similar assets, market conditions 

and expected future events which may affect them, such as technological changes. The effective 

economic useful life may, therefore, be different from its estimated useful life. Each year the Company 

assesses the technological and business segment developments, any contractual and legislative 

changes related to utilisation of the assets and their recovery values are reviewed in order to update the 

residual useful life. Such updating may modify the depreciation/amortisation period and consequently 

the annual rate and charge for current and future periods. 

Impairment loss/reversal of fixed assets 

Non-current assets are periodically tested for impairment and where indicators of difficulty in recovery 

are present an impairment loss is recorded as a deduction from the relative net carrying amount. The 

existence of such indicators can be verified through subjective valuations, based on information 

available within the Group or externally and on historical experience. Moreover, in the presence of a 

potential impairment, this is determined by suitable impairment tests. The correct identification of the 

factors, indicating a potential impairment and the estimates to determine the loss, may depend on 

conditions which vary over time, affecting the assessments and estimates. Similar considerations 

regarding the existence of indicators and the use of estimates in the application of valuation techniques 

can be found in the valuations to be made in the event of the reversal of impairment losses charged in 

previous periods. 

Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recorded on the basis of expectations of future taxable income. The assessment 

of expected future taxable income for the purpose of recognising deferred tax assets depends on factors 

which may vary over time and may have significant effects on the measurement of this item. 

Provisions for risks and tax uncertainties 

The Group accrues in these provisions the probable liabilities relating to litigation and controversies with 

staff, suppliers and third parties, tax disputes and, in general, expenses arising from obligations 

undertaken. The quantification of such allocations involves assumptions and estimates based on 
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presently available knowledge of factors which may vary over time. Thus, the final outcomes may be 

significantly different from those considered during the preparation of the financial statements. 

Provision for impairment of receivables 

Impairment losses on receivables are recognised in the financial statements according to the expected 

credit loss method, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9. In particular, the impairment on trade 

receivables and on contract assets is carried out through the simplified approach, which provides for 

estimating the expected loss throughout the life of the receivable at the time of the initial recognition and 

in the subsequent valuations. For each customer segment, the estimate is carried out mainly through 

the determination of the average expected non-collectability, based on historical-statistical indicators, 

which may be adjusted using prospective elements. For some categories of receivables characterised 

by peculiar risk elements, instead, specific valuations are carried out on the individual credit positions.  

Leases 

The recognition and measurements of lease liabilities and the corresponding rights of use can be 

influenced by various estimates. 

Specifically, the Group estimates the internal debt rate to discount the expected lease payments. The 

management also considers all the facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to 

exercise the renewal options. The renewal options are included in the overall term of the lease contract 

only if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. The assessment of the renewal options 

shall be revised only if a significant event occurs that influences said assessment which is under the 

control of the lessee. 

5. Litigation 

There are no significant disputes outstanding at the end of the 2021 financial year. 

6. Business combinations and significant events 

No acquisition of new companies and/or business combinations was completed during the year.  

Acquisition of controlling interest in Pluservice S.r.l. 

As already described in the Report on Operations as of December 31, 2020, on 31 July 2020 the 

acquisition of 51% of the company Pluservice S.r.l. by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. was completed. The 

acquired company holds 70% of the shares of myCicero S.r.l., of which Mooney Servizi S.p.A. already 



32 

held the remaining 30%, and therefore, following the above-mentioned acquisition, the Group has also 

obtained indirect control of myCicero S.r.l. 

The acquisition agreement also provides for the option, for Mooney Servizi S.p.A., to acquire the residual 

share capital by 2023 on the basis of payments based on the corporate performance of the subsidiaries. 

The companies develop integrated digital solutions mainly for transport companies and sell mobility 

services to consumers on apps and the web. The myCicero platform makes it possible to pay through 

parking lots and blue lines apps, as well as to purchase train tickets and passes, for Local Public 

Transport and long-distance Buses. 

The transaction is part of the Group’s business diversification and growth strategy, which sees the 

Mobility sector as an important area of development and synergies. 

With reference to the acquisition of the pluservice Group in 2020 and described in detail below, the 

exercise of "purchase price allocation" was finalized during the year 2021 as permitted by the accounting 

standard of reference. 

A summary table of the amounts regarding the acquisition by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. is shown below: 

31 July, 2020 

(In Euro thousand)  Pluservice S.r.l. 
myCicero 

S.r.l. 
Total 

Assets 

Tangible assets 195 12 207

Intangible assets 4,335 10,152 14,487

Goodwill 29 427 456

Investments 6,289 0 6,289

Trade receivables 6,051 2,610 8,661

Other current and not current assets 3,588 2,338 5,926

Total Assets Acquired 20,487 15,539 36,026

Liabilities 

Provision for employee severance indemnities 2,510 430 2,940

Trade payables and other payables 2,259 2,806 5,064

Other current and not current liabilities 7,820 6,836 14,656

Total Liabilities Acquired 12,588 10,072 22,661

Net assets Acquired 7,899 5,467 13,366

Present value of consideration 17,292

Equity attributable to third parties 5,501

Goodwill 9,427
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As shown in the table, based on the application of IFRS 3, the Group has recognised minority interests 

at their fair value for an amount of Euro 5.5 million at the date of acquisition. The Group has used the 

option to recognise the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in the statement of financial 

position on a provisional basis stating the recognised goodwill amounts to Euro 9.4 million.  

Given the assessments made in 2021 within 12 months of the acquisition, it was considered that the 

elements exist to confirm the provisional accounting described above by allocating the difference 

between the price paid and the net assets acquired entirely to goodwill for a value of Euro 9.4 million. 

7. Revenues 

This item can be broken down as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Revenues from payments of paying-in slips and road tax 188,594 185,657 

Revenues from distribution, issue and top-ups of prepaid cards  27,173 13,213 

Revenues from telephone and media card distribution 26,092 27,670 

Revenues from other products 8,189 6,488 

Revenues from banking services 28,157 17,301 

Revenues from mobility services 10,910 3,753 

Revenues from points of sale and others 60,198 55,152 

Total 349,313 309,233 

The item Revenues from payments of paying-in slips and road tax refers to the fees recognised for 

services subject to supervision by the Bank of Italy, mainly constituted of paying-in slips and road tax. 

The item Revenues from distribution, issue and top-up of prepaid cards includes revenues from both 

the distribution and top-up of prepaid cards issued by third parties and the issuing and top-up of prepaid 

cards issued in the capacity of Electronic Money Institution by Mooney S.p.A. The significant increase 

compared to the previous year is mainly attributable to the launch of the new Mooney prepaid card. 

Revenues from telephone and media card distribution refer to revenues related primarily to the 

sale/distribution of telephone top-ups and the sale/distribution of TV card top-ups. 

The item Revenue from other products includes income mainly relating to the distribution/sale services 

of railway ticketing and codes for online purchases.   

The item Revenues from banking services refers to revenues relating to services, also subject to the 

supervision of the Bank of Italy, of withdrawal, payment, transfer of money in addition to payments of 

tax proxies, typically pertaining to the traditional distribution channels (bank and post office branches), 

but with great potential for the proximity channel. The increase over the previous year is mainly 

attributable to the extension of services to most of the Mooney network. 

The item Revenues from mobility services includes the revenues deriving from the businesses of the 

newly acquired Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l., consisting in the supply of technological solutions 
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for public and private transport companies, as well as services to citizens for the digital payment of 

parking, blue lines and purchase of transport tickets, matured on the full year compared to the 5 months 

of fiscal year 2020.   

The item Revenues from points of sale and others mainly includes revenues relating to the annual “Point 

of Sale” fee due by the Mooney distribution network on the basis of the undertaken contractual 

conditions and to a lesser extent other fees for services provided to the points of sale, including service 

fees related to EasyCassa installations, a retail technological solution integrated with cash register 

functions, electronic invoicing, management and payment acceptance.    

8. Other income 

This item is composed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Other sundry income 5,280 2,714 

Total 5,280 2,714 

The balance of the item Other miscellaneous income is mainly attributable to the compensatory 

indemnity that the Mooney companies, in particular Mooney Servizi S.p.A., is due from other companies 

adhering to the Group VAT, in particular belonging to the Sisal group and whose settlement will take 

place after the submission of the relative declarations for the year 2021. 

9. Purchases of materials, consumables and merchandise  

This item is composed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Purchase of rolls of paper 1,139 1,499 

Spare parts purchases 409 408 

Sundry materials purchases 578 953 

Warehousing 91 -

Purchase of finished products  2,054 356 

Change in inventories (635) (23)

Total 3,636 3,192 

The purchases of materials such as rolls and spare parts are linked to the management of terminals at 

the points of sale. The various materials relate to purchases of promotional material and other 

equipment; the purchase of finished products mainly represents the purchase of hardware and auxiliary 

material intended for sale to support the business of the companies Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l. 
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10. Costs for services 

This item is composed as follows:  

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Marketing and commercial expenses 5,306 4,429 

Other commercial initiatives 1,136 663 

Other commercial services 998 929 

Commercial services 7,440 6,020 

Sales channel – Payment services 169,292 161,818 

Maintenance and Technical Support 7,086 6,103 

Logistics 1,766 837 

Telecommunications 2,929 639 

Consulting 11,516 9,414 

Emoluments on Corporate Offices 1,722 668 

Bank Fees and Expenses 14,929 12,756 

Business and Employee Travel 811 656 

Office management costs 325 170 

Insurance 1,324 545 

Outsourcing services 15,477 11,385 

Other services 5,822 7,301 

Other  1,381 3,539 

Other Services 234,380 215,829 

Total 241,820 221,849 

The main costs for services are represented by the commissions paid to the payment points, relating to 

the services subject to the supervision of the Bank of Italy. 

The item Maintenance and Technical Assistance costs mainly includes the costs for the maintenance 

activities of the technological platforms and payment terminals on the network. 

The item Bank Fees and Expenses is mainly represented by the acquiring commissions for cashless 

payments at points of sale and online, by the commissions for SEPA Credit Transfer (SCT) and SEPA 

Direct Debit (SDD), and by the expenses related to sureties and guarantees given to partner customers 

as part of agreements relating to payment services and to the sale and/or distribution of telephone top-

ups respectively. 

The item Outsourcing services is mainly linked to the costs of the external call centre and helpdesk 

services, visual merchandising activities at points of sale, and temporary work and operational and 

technological support services also provided by the minority shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A., governed by 

specific temporary service agreements. 

The item Other services mainly includes the costs of managing the external collection and payment 

platforms, other costs related to employees such as meal vouchers, training and recruitment costs, and 

audit costs. 

The item Other costs for services mainly represents the residual costs of operational, managerial and 

technological support services, regulated by specific temporary service agreements with the companies 

of the Sisal group and with Banca 5 S.p.A. 
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The fees paid to the audit firm for the audit of the annual financial statements of the Group (including 

these consolidated financial statements and some non-recurrent assets) amounted, for the entire year, 

to approximately Euro 324 thousand (Euro 329 thousand in 2020) (net of VAT). 

It must also be noted that the compensation due to the statutory auditors of the Parent for carrying out 

their functions, also in other consolidated companies, amounts to a total of Euro 164 thousand. 

11. Lease and rent expenses 

This item is composed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Building leases 361 314 

Other rentals and operating leases 272 135 

Total 633 449 

The costs incurred in the financial year in relation to leases with an underlying asset of low value or 

relative to contracts of duration of less than 12 months amounted to Euro 344 thousand. 

12. Personnel costs  

This item is composed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Salaries and wages 17,527 15,071 

Social security contributions 5,804 4,821 

Employee severance indemnities 1,984 1,481 

Other personnel costs 1,704 1,124 

Total 27,019 22,497 

The following table shows the number of employees by category for the years under review (the number 

of employees represents the situation as at 31 December, in both years): 

Year ended 31 December 

Number of employees 2021 2020

Executives 23 24 

Management staff 102 110 

White-collar 498 415 

Blue-collar 2 6 

Other 33 27 

Total 658 582 
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13. Other operating costs 

This item is composed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Other taxes and duties 303 85 

Gifts and donations 287 103 

Sundry operating costs 8,208 5,335 

Total 8,798 5,523 

Other operating expenses are mainly represented by the cost of non-deductible pro-rata VAT accrued 

during the 2021 financial year. 

14. Depreciation, amortisation, provisions, impairment losses and reversals of the value of 

property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets

This item is composed as follows:  

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Amortisation of intangible assets 38,607 22,560 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 22,112 19,122 

Other impairment losses on fixed assets 404 -

Impairment losses on current assets 6,295 3,382 

Allocations and releases to provisions for risks and charges 111 130 

Total 67,529 45,194 

The portion of depreciation of property, plant and equipment related to the application of IFRS 16 

amounts to Euro 3,329 thousand and relates to the depreciation of motor vehicles for Euro 1,044 

thousand, property leases for Euro 1,462 thousand and for Euro 823 thousand to the lease of the 

company's data centre and to the financial lease of some lots of terminals for the provision of payment 

services.  

The increase in the item is mainly due to the increase in investments for new software developments as 

well as to the acceleration of the amortization of the SisalPay brand for which the useful life has been 

redetermined. 

15. Finance income and similar 

This item is composed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020

Finance income on guarantee deposits 86 34 

Total 86 34 
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16. Finance expenses and similar

This item is composed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Interest and other finance expenses - third parties 29,162 26,568 

Interest and finance expenses - Shareholders 28,649 26,191 

Exchange gains/losses realised  (1) (34)

Total 57,810 52,725 

The item "Interest and other finance expenses – third parties" refers mainly to interest and the fee and 

commission component related to a bond issue and a revolving credit facility deriving from the Group’s 

financial restructuring carried out in December 2019 for Euro 26.4 million and to the component deriving 

from the alignment of the earn-out related to the acquisition of Pluservice S.r.l. for Euro 1.8 million. 

The item "Interest and finance expenses - Shareholders" refers to the financial charges accrued in 

relation to the outstanding payables SG2 S.p.A., which took over from Sisal S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Group 

S.p.A.), as already commented, and Banca 5 S.p.A. by virtue of the Deferred Purchase Price Agreement 

signed by the parties in light of the finalisation of the Gallo project concerning the purchase by Mooney 

Group S.p.A. of the equity investments held in Mooney S.p.A. and in Mooney Servizi S.p.A. by Sisal 

Group S.p.A. and Banca 5 S.p.A., following the transfers of business units by the latter to the 

subsidiaries. 

17. Income taxes 

This item is composed as follows:  

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Current taxes (1,927) (1,466)

Current income tax relating to prior years 61 19

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 14,815 10,835

Deferred tax assets related to prior years 373 (655) 

Total (12,575) (8,732)
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The reconciliation of the theoretical tax rate is presented in the following table:  

The effects of the temporary increases relate to: 

- allocations to provisions for risks and charges for Euro 341 thousand; 

- write-downs of receivables for Euro 219 thousand; 

- fees to directors not paid during the year for Euro 214 thousand 

- allocations to severance indemnities provisions for Euro 88 thousand. 

The temporary decreases relate to: 

- allocations to provisions for risks and charges not deducted in previous years for Euro 34 

thousand; 

- maintenance costs of Euro 8 thousand; 

- remuneration to directors of Euro 4 thousand. 

Year ended 31 December

(in Euro/000)

IRES 2021

Profit (loss) before income taxes (52,565)

Nominal tax rate 24%/27.5%

Theoretical tax burden (14,472)

Effect of temporary increases 862

Effect of temporary decreases (46)

Effect of permanent increases 4,423

Effect of permanent decreases (590)

Deferred IRES liabilities (4,446)

Other variations 1,102

IRES tax (13,168)

IRAP 2021

Taxable balance sheet items (26,979)

Ordinary tax rate 3.9%/5.57%

Theoretical tax burden 1,434

Effect of increases 1,808

Effect of decreases (1,597)

Deferred IRAP liabilities (661)

Other IRAP changes (96)

IRAP tax 904

Current and deferred income tax adjustments related to prior year (312)

Total effective tax expense (12,575)
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The most important permanent increases relate to non-deductible depreciation for Euro 3.3 million, 

transport costs for Euro 250 thousand and non-deductible contingent assets for Euro 310 thousand.  

The most important permanent decreases relate to the deductible amounts of "super-amortisation" for 

Euro 0.5 million. 

The movements for deferred IRES taxes are mainly due to the economic effect of the deferred taxation 

on PPA for Euro 3.3 million. 

Finally, other IRES changes concern the additional IRES loss of the Parent Company and the 

adjustments to IAS/IFRS standards of the OIC-adopter companies included in the consolidation 

perimeter. 

18. Property, plant and equipment 

The composition and changes in this item are as follows: 

(in Euro/000)

Opening 

balance Investments

Depreciation, 

amortisation 

and impairment 

losses Divestments Reclassifications

31 December 

2021

Land and buildings

Original cost 4,621 8,659 - (1,735) - 11,545

Accumulated amortisation (1,449) - (1,652) 1,145 - (1,956)

Impairment losses - - - - - -

Net value 3,172 8,659 (1,652) (590) - 9,589

Plant and machinery:

Original cost 891 180 - (2) (9) 1,060

Accumulated amortisation (341) - (160) - 9 (492)

Impairment losses - - - - - -

Net value 550 180 (160) (2) - 568

Industrial equipment

Original cost 113,975 6,763 - (33) - 120,705

Accumulated amortisation (56,549) - (19,103) - - (75,652)

Impairment losses - - (92) - - (92)

Net value 57,426 6,763 (19,195) (33) - 44,961

Other assets

Original cost 5,315 1,804 - (226) - 6,893

Accumulated amortisation (2,530) - (1,198) 110 - (3,617)

Impairment losses - - (312) - - (312)

Net value 2,785 1,804 (1,510) (116) - 2,963

Property, plant and equipment under construction

Original cost - - - - -

Accumulated amortisation - - - - -

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value - - - - -

Total

Original cost 124,802 17,406 - (1,996) (9) 140,203

Accumulated amortisation (60,869) - (22,112) 1,255 9 (81,717)

Impairment losses - - (404) - - (404)

Net value 63,934 17,406 (22,516) (741) - 58,082
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2021 

The rights of use of leased assets recorded under property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 

2021 amounted to Euro 11,746 thousand, broken down as follows: 

- Land and buildings for Euro 8,334 thousand referring to the leases for the Milan and Rome offices; 

- Industrial equipment for Euro 628 thousand referring to the new data centre; 

- Industrial equipment: leased terminals for Euro 1,074 thousand; 

- Other assets for Euro 1,710 thousand. 

With regard to the rights of use of leased assets, depreciation was recorded for an amount of Euro 

4,979 thousand. 

Upon completion, new investments are made in proprietary terminals for approximately Euro 4.6 

million. 

(in Euro/000)

Opening 

balance

Changes in 

scope of 

consolidation Investments

Depreciation, 

amortisation 

and impairment 

losses

31 December 

2020

Land and buildings

Original cost 31 480 4,110 - 4,621

Accumulated amortisation (13) - - (1,436) (1,449)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 18 480 4,110 (1,436) 3,172

Plant and machinery:

Original cost 19 251 621 - 891

Accumulated amortisation (10) (186) - (145) (341)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 9 65 621 (145) 550

Industrial equipment

Original cost 106,118 98 7,759 - 113,975

Accumulated amortisation (40,088) (82) - (16,379) (56,549)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 66,030 16 7,759 (16,379) 57,426

Other assets

Original cost 1,685 1,486 2,143 - 5,315

Accumulated amortisation (565) (803) (1,161) (2,530)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 1,120 683 2,143 (1,161) 2,785

Property, plant and equipment under construction

Original cost - - - -

Accumulated amortisation - - - -

Impairment losses - - - -

Net value - - - -

Total

Original cost 107,853 2,316 14,633 - 124,802

Accumulated amortisation (40,676) (1,071) - (19,122) (60,869)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 67,178 1,245 14,633 (19,122) 63,934
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2020 

The change in the scope of consolidation refers to the businesses acquired following the contributions 

and acquisitions described in the paragraph “Business combinations”. 

The rights of use of leased assets recorded under property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 

2020 amounted to Euro 13,397 thousand, broken down as follows: 

- Land and buildings for Euro 2,336 thousand (Euro 18 thousand in 2019); 

- Industrial equipment for Euro 3,978 thousand referring to the new data centre; 

- Industrial equipment: leased terminals for Euro 5,399 thousand (Euro 6,943 thousand in 2019); 

- Other assets for Euro 1,684 thousand (Euro 588 thousand in 2019). 

With regard to the rights of use of leased assets, depreciation was recorded for an amount of Euro 

3,585 thousand. 

19. Goodwill  

As at 31 December 2021, the item Goodwill amounted to Euro 534,102 thousand and did not undergo 

any changes during the year.  

Management has identified the CGUs taking into account the method for the generation of cash flows 

of each Group activity, as well as the method by which management monitors their results. These criteria 

have led to the identification of two distinct CGUs that substantially coincide with the main legal operating 

entities of the Group:  

 the Mooney CGU coinciding with Mooney S.p.A.; 

 the Mooney Servizi CGU coinciding with Mooney Servizi S.p.A. and its subsidiaries Pluservice 

S.r.l. and MyCicero S.r.l. 

The goodwill recognised in the Company's consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2021 

(and as at 31 December 2020) is divided as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Mooney CGU 416,787 416,787

Mooney Services CGU 117,315 117,315

Balance at 31 December 534,102 534,102

The value of Goodwill, in line with the requirements of the relevant accounting standards, was subjected

to an impairment test.  
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According to the IFRS reference accounting standards, the “recoverable amount” of the CGU to be 

considered for the purposes of impairment is equal to the higher of the “fair value less costs of disposal” 

and the “value in use”. 

For the Mooney and Mooney Servizi CGUs, the recoverable value of the CGUs was estimated on the 

basis of the value in use, defined on the basis of the five-year cash flow projections approved by top 

management, differentiated according to the historical trends of the various products and the expected 

developments in the various reference markets. 

To this end, the Group's management has developed a plan of company results and the related cash 

flows that envisages significant growth objectives over a five-year timespan, in line with the Group's 

mission of being the first and most accessible banking and payments proximity network.  

Projected growths are linked to the development of all sectors and products in which the group operates. 

In particular, the plan provides for the growth of PagoPa and Digital Payments services, the expansion 

of the distribution network, the further development and accreditation of the Mooney Card, launched at 

the end of the previous year, and of new business lines in the mobility sector, thanks to the know-how 

obtained through the strategic acquisition of myCicero S.r.l. and Pluservice S.r.l., concluded in 2020. 

The growth rate used to estimate cash flows beyond the explicit projected period was determined on 

the basis of market data and information available to the Group management according to reasonable 

projections of estimated sector growth in the long term and is equal to 1.3%. 

The rate used to discount cash flows to present value is equal to a WACC of 7.7%, derived from the 

weighted average cost of the cost of capital of 8.2% and the after-tax cost of debt of 3.5%.  

The aforementioned "impairment test" exercise highlighted that the recoverable value of the CGU, for 

the portion of the flows attributable to the Group, is higher than the book value of the invested capital, 

including goodwill, attributed to each CGU. It was therefore not necessary to carry out any write-down 

of the item in question. 

In particular, the excess of the recoverable value of the Mooney CGU, determined on the basis of the 

parameters described above, with respect to the relative book value is equal to approximately Euro 628 

million, and for the Mooney Servizi CGU approximately Euro 171 million. 

For the Mooney Servizi CGU, the values that the terminal growth rate and the WACC should assume, 

considered individually and keeping other assumptions unchanged, to make the recoverable value of 

the CGU equal to their book value are respectively equal to -13.8% and 15.7%, while for the Mooney 

CGU the analogous values are respectively -10.9% and 14.6%.  

In consideration of the consistency of the reported values, the change in the value assigned to the basic 

assumptions, in terms of the growth rate forecasted in determining the terminal value and the discount 

rate that makes the recoverable value of the Mooney CGU equal to its book value, is relative to 

unreasonable parameters. 
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20. Intangible assets  

The composition and changes in this item are as follows: 

(in Euro/000)

Opening 

balance Investments

Depreciation, 

amortisation 

and impairment 

losses Divestments

31 December 

2021

Industrial patent and intellectual 

property rights:

Original cost 89,035 29,990 - (269) 118,756

Accumulated amortisation (55,009) - (23,848) - (78,857)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 34,026 29,990 (23,848) (269) 39,899

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and 

similar rights: -

Original cost 36,412 4,586 - (4) 40,994

Accumulated amortisation (9,589) - (11,018) - (20,608)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 26,823 4,586 (11,018) (4) 20,386

Other intangible assets: -

Original cost 74,125 2 - - 74,127

Accumulated amortisation (9,972) - (3,741) - (13,713)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 64,154 2 (3,741) - 60,415

Intangible assets in progress and 

advances: -

Original cost 2,292 806 - - 3,098

Accumulated amortisation - - - - -

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 2,292 806 - - 3,098

Total -

Original cost 201,864 35,384 - (273) 236,975

Accumulated amortisation (74,571) - (38,607) - (113,178)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 127,294 35,384 (38,607) (273) 123,798
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2021: 

The investments made in 2021 mainly refer to internal capitalisations relating to the development of 

platforms and application programs for the purchase of software licenses for the consolidation of 

company systems after the segregation of Sisal Group systems as well as preparatory to the 

developments required in the field of new Group business. 

2020: 

The change in the scope of consolidation refers to the businesses acquired following the contributions 

and acquisitions described in the paragraph “Business combinations”. 

The investments made in 2020 refer to internal capitalisations and SW developments relating to the 

process of segregation from the Sisal Group systems and to the development activities for the new 

services, in particular for the new “Mooney” prepaid card and for integration, in the commercial offer, of 

banking products. 

21. Investments in associates 

The item in question, as in the previous year, has no balance at the end of the 2021 financial year. 

(in Euro/000)

Opening 

balance

Restatement of 

PPA B5

Changes in 

scope of 

consolidation Investments

Depreciation, 

amortisation 

and impairment 

losses

31 December 

2020

Industrial patent and intellectual property 

rights:

Original cost 33,662 - 33,358 22,015 - 89,035

Accumulated amortisation (19,310) - (19,480) - (16,219) (55,009)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 14,352 - 13,877 22,015 (16,219) 34,026

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and 

similar rights: -

Original cost 34,851 - 267 1,294 - 36,412

Accumulated amortisation (6,689) - (260) - (2,640) (9,589)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 28,162 - 6 1,294 (2,640) 26,823

Other intangible assets: -

Original cost 40,325 33,800 - - - 74,125

Accumulated amortisation (6,272) - - (3,700) (9,972)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Net value 34,054 33,800 - - (3,700) 64,154

Intangible assets in progress and 

advances: -

Original cost - - 604 1,688 - 2,292

Accumulated amortisation - - - - - -

Impairment losses - - - - - -

Net value - - 604 1,688 - 2,292

Total -

Original cost 108,839 33,800 34,228 24,998 - 201,864

Accumulated amortisation (32,270) - (19,741) - (22,560) (74,571)

Impairment losses - - - - - -

Net value 76,568 33,800 14,487 24,998 (22,560) 127,294
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22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

This item can be broken down as follows: 

 At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Deferred tax assets                                21,645                            12,062 

Deferred tax liabilities                               (25,514)                           (30,794)

Net amount                                 (3,869)                           (18,732)

Net changes in this item are as follows: 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

At 31 December                               (18,732)                           (27,974)

Provisions for prepaid taxes in the income statement                                   5,100                              1,859 

Releases to the income statement of deferred taxes                                  9,341                              8,334 

Charge/release to statement of comprehensive income                                        329                                  (15)

Change in scope of consolidation                                         93                                (936)

At 31 December                                 (3,869)                           (18,732)

Deferred tax assets are summarised in the following table: 

At 31 December   At 31 December   

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Temporary 
differences 
(Amount)

Tax effect 
Temporary 
differences 
(Amount)

Tax effect 

IRES tax losses from previous years 77,498 18,708 45,904 11,309

Allocation to provision for risks and charges 2,844 771 0 0

Other temporary differences 8,251 2,166 2,582 752

Total deferred tax assets  88,593 21,645 48,486 12,062

Amount offset against deferred tax liabilities  (21,645) (12,062)

Total deferred tax assets  0 0

Tax losses for which deferred tax assets have not 
been recorded 

57,546 2,021 53,558                        2,360 

The Group expects to have sufficient taxable income in the future to recover deferred tax assets. The 

assessment was carried out by the Directors on the basis of the forecast economic and financial results 

generated by the Group, based on the 2022-2026 plan drawn up by them. 

Tax losses excluded from deferred tax asset computation refer to the IRES tax losses recorded by the 

Mooney Group, though they can be unlimitedly carried forward pursuant to art. 84, paragraph 2 of the 

Consolidated Income Tax Act, and usable only against future Company's profits since these tax losses 

are partly related to the additional IRES component and partly arising before the Company's participation 
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in the tax consolidation. .

Deferred tax liabilities are summarised in the following table:  

At 31 December   At 31 December   

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Temporary 
differences 
(Amount)

Tax effect 
Temporary 
differences 
(Amount)

Tax effect 

Total deferred tax liabilities  72,734 25,357 89,971 29,557

Other temporary differences  112 31 4,393 1,237

Other temporary differences  523 126

Total deferred tax liabilities  73,370 25,514 94,364 30,794

Amount offset against deferred tax assets (21,645) (12,062)

Total deferred tax liabilities 3,869 18,732

23. Other non-current assets 

This item amounted to a total of approximately Euro 652 thousand (Euro 2,344 thousand as at 31 

December 2020) and mainly comprised guarantee deposits provided for issuing activities of prepaid 

cards by the company Mooney S.p.A. and other guarantee deposits for Group utilities and leases.  

The decrease in the year is essentially attributable to the reimbursement of the guarantee deposit to the 

Mastercard network, which was replaced by a bank guarantee on the revolving credit line available for 

the Group.  

24. Inventories 

This item is composed as follows: 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Rolls of paper for terminals 99 210 

Spare parts (repairs) 109 167 

Spare parts (consumables) 684 455 

Materials and consumables 892 832 

Semi-finished products 60 120 

Virtual top-ups and parking tickets 2,816 2,566 

HW and auxiliary warehouse 1,040 404 

Finished products and merchandise 3,856 2,971 

Total 4,809 3,923 
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Inventories are shown net of the provision for inventory obsolescence. Changes in the provision are as 

follows: 

Provision for inventory obsolescence   
(in Euro thousands) 

31 December 2019 131 

Net provisions 30 

Usage -

31 December 2020 161 

Net provisions 17 

Usage 257 

31 December 2021 435 

25. Trade receivables 

This item is composed as follows: 

          At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Receivables from points of sale 45,146 12,870 

Trade receivables from third parties 9,478 9,688 

Other trade receivables from third parties 2,202 173 

Doubtful receivables 11,521 4,840 

Provision for impairment of trade receivables (12,415) (5,156)

Trade receivables from Sisal Group companies 61 48,158 

Trade receivables from Banca 5 4,382 6,037 

Total 60,376 76,610 

During the 2021 financial year, through the company Mooney S.p.A., the Mooney Group became 

independent in the management of the SDD collection procedures at the network previously run by the 

Sisal Group.   

The item "Receivables from points of sale" mainly refers to amounts due to the Group for payment 

services and telephone top-ups provided in the last few days of December, paid on the network but still 

to be collected.  

The item "Trade receivables from third parties" mainly refers to amounts due to the Group for fees 

deriving from partners for distribution and ticketing services. 

The item "Doubtful receivables" represents unpaid outstanding amounts generated by receivables that 

were subject to collection, due mainly from points of sale, on which recovery procedures and possibly 

legal warnings were initiated, excluding amounts due on situations that can be resolved in the short 

term. 

The item Trade receivables from Sisal Group companies was essentially zeroed compared to the 

previous year as the Mooney Group, as mentioned above, became independent through the company 

Mooney S.p.A. in the management of SDD collection procedures at the sales points network.  

The item "Trade receivables due Banca 5" mainly refers to receivables from the sales cycle due from 

Banca 5 relating to the collection of the products transferred and not transferred that the latter carried 
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out at the sale points of the former Banca 5 network and the fees relating to the current accounts that 

are partly retroceded to Mooney S.p.A. 

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currency and the breakdown by geographical area are not 

significant as all receivables are substantially due from domestic operators.  

The changes in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follow: 

(in Euro thousands) 

Provision for impairment of trade 
receivables from network 

31 December 2019 (216)

Net provisions (4,462)

Usage -

Change in scope of consolidation (478)

31 December 2020 (5,156)

Net provisions (7,410)

Usage 150 

31 December 2021 (12,415)

The increase recorded in the 2021 financial year was substantially reflected against an increase in the 

insolvency positions generated during the year. 

26. Current financial assets 

There is no balance for this item in either 2021 or 2020. 

27. Income Taxes receivable 

This item is composed as follows: 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Receivables for IRES tax from tax authorities - 12 

Receivables for IRAP tax from tax authorities 20 -

Total 20 12 

Receivables from tax authorities for IRAP are attributable to the company Mooney S.p.A. net of the 

advances already paid. 

28. Restricted bank deposits 

Restricted bank deposits mainly include the balances of restricted cash deposits deriving from funds 

received from customers in compliance with the directive known as PSD2, as part of the services 

provided by Mooney S.p.A. as IMEL.  

These deposits are managed by the Group but their use is restricted to the liquidation of payables to 

service partners, holders of prepaid cards and payment accounts. 
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Restricted bank deposits as at 31 December 2021 amounted to Euro 98,062 thousand (Euro 61,142 

thousand at 31 December 2020). It should be noted that the value of the above-mentioned bank deposits 

referring to related parties is Euro 66,125 thousand (Euro 16,055 thousand as at 31 December 2020). 

29. Cash and cash equivalents 

This item is composed as follows: 

         At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Bank and postal accounts 67,629 69,101 

Cash and cash equivalents in hand 5 2 

Total 67,633 69,103 

It should be noted that the value of the bank deposits referring to related parties is Euro 43,413 thousand. 

30. Other current assets 

This item is composed as follows: 

         At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Other receivables from employees 110 56 

Other receivables from tax authorities 87 293 

Prepaid expenses 4,449 2,796 

Other receivables from third parties 7,219 8,899 

Provision for impairment of other receivables (4,992) (4,992)

Other receivables from Related parties 5,616 4,618 

Total 12,489 11,670 

The item "Other receivables from the Tax Authorities" is mainly composed of tax credits deriving mainly 

from the companies Mooney S.p.A. and Pluservice S.r.l.  

Prepaid expenses mainly represent the prepaid portion of expenses not relating to the current year 

incurred for the issue of bank guarantees, rent, health insurance premiums and purchase of supplies. 

Sundry receivables from third parties, amounting to Euro 7,219 thousand, mainly include receivables 

from some companies of the Qui! Group, declared bankrupt, due to the company Mooney S.p.A. for 

approximately Euro 5 million, entirely covered by the bad debt provision. 

Sundry receivables from Related Parties amounting to Euro 5,616 thousand, refer mainly to the 

reimbursement of VAT benefits as set forth in the relative regulations in the applicable VAT group.
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31. Equity 

The breakdown of equity at 31 December 2021 is shown below: 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Equity (285,626) (244,646)

Shareholders' equity attributable to non-controlling interests 5,310 5,286 

Total (280,316) (239,360)

The share capital of the Company at 31 December 2021, fully subscribed and paid-in, is composed of 

50,000,000 ordinary shares, and is 70% owned by Sisal Group S.p.A. and 30% owned by Banca 5 

S.p.A., a company of the Intesa Group. 

The changes in the single items are summarised in the statement of changes in consolidated equity. 

The negative value of equity reflects the recording, according to the reference accounting standards, of 

the business combinations that were implemented to create the Group at the end of the year 2019. 

32. Long-term debt  

Long-term debt of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, shown net of transaction charges in 

accordance with IFRS, is presented as follows: 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Long-term debt  929,057                     890,137 

Lease liabilities 19,150                       12,132 

Total 948,207                     902,269 

of which current 76,529                      68,338 

of which non-current 871,678                    833,930 

Long-term debt 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)        2021     2020 

Super Senior Revolving Facility  68,722                       59,323 

Senior Secured Notes - Mooney Group 514,585                     511,749 

Total 583,306                     571,073 

Loans and mortgages from other banks   4,075                         6,037 

Total Funding from third parties 587,381                     577,110 

Funding from shareholders 341,676                     313,027 

Total 929,057                     890,137 



52 

Existing debt as at 31 December 2021, including the current portion, totalled around Euro 929.1 million. 

Fixed-rate loans of approximately Euro 341.7 million were mainly attributable to the “Deferred Purchase 

Price Agreement” obtained after entering into the partnership with Banca 5 S.p.A. for around Euro 222.2 

million and with SG2 S.p.A. which took over Sisal S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Group S.p.A.) for approximately 

Euro 119.5 million.  

Floating-rate debt amounted to around Euro 587.4 million, of which approximately Euro 514.6 million 

related mainly to the Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes of Mooney Group S.p.A. and Euro 72.8 million 

in bank debt or similar. 

A description follows of the most significant outstanding debt.

Bond issues and revolving credit facilities 

At the end of 2021, the Mooney Group had one floating-rate outstanding bond issue for Euro 530 million 

(Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes). 

The Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes, recorded in the Financial Statements for Euro 514.6 million 

as the residual balance at 31 December 2021, including the fee related to transaction charges, were 

subscribed during the year 2019 by Mooney Group S.p.A. They offer quarterly coupon payments of 

interest (due every 17 March, 17 June, 17 September and 17 December) and repayment of the principal 

in a lump sum on 17 December 2026.  

The floating-rate interest is calculated on the 3-month Euribor rate plus 3.875% spread.  

During 2019, as part of the company reorganisation that led to the issue of the bond described above, 

Mooney Group S.p.A. obtained a credit facility from a pool of banks for a total of Euro 92.5 million 

maturing in 2026 and with interest calculated on the Euribor rate when due, plus a 3% spread subject 

to decrease in the margin of up to 2% as certain financial ratio levels are achieved. 

At the end of the year, the available credit line was used to cover its working capital for a total of Euro 

70.5 million, in addition to approximately Euro 2.5 million used to issue guarantees in favour of the 

Mastercard group. 

Details of the credit facilities which form the above loans are as follows:  

Residual Debt at 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  Company Type 2021 2020 Due 
Repaymen

ts 

SSFRN bond (floating rate)  
Mooney 

Group S.p.A.
Bullet  

530,000 530,000 
17-Dec-26 when due  

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility   
Mooney 

Group S.p.A.
Revolving 

facility 70,500 61,500 
2026 when due  

Total gross of transaction charges  
600,500 591,500 

Accrued interest  
799 799 

Transaction charges connected to loans    
(17,992) (21,226)

Total  
583,306 571,073 
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The loan agreements in place do not envisage compliance with maintenance covenants, but in any 

event require compliance with several financial covenants on the revolving credit facility such as the 

guarantor coverage test and quarterly calculation of the leverage ratio, which also determines the 

applicable margin on the facility. Furthermore, in reference to the loan agreements, the Group is in any 

event required to satisfy a series of restrictions which, among other things, place limits on: i) entering 

into merger, spin-off, corporate restructuring and joint venture transactions, ii) carrying out acquisitions 

or investments, iii) carrying out acts disposing of all or part of its assets and iv) increasing financial debt. 

Exceptions to these restrictions are permitted, on authorisation from the lending banks and by the 

noteholders. 

The Group has also arranged pledges in favour of the lenders on shares in Mooney Group S.p.A, 

Mooney Servizi S.p.A. and Mooney S.p.A. 

The Company has the right to full or partial early repayment of the notes issued, as established in the 

contract governing their issue.  

In particular, subsequent to 17 December 2021, any early repayments only require payment of the 

nominal value of the amount repaid and any interest accrued and not paid. The Group has not exercised 

this right at the balance sheet date. 

Loans and mortgages from other banks 

The item has a balance of Euro 4,075 thousand and is made up of the residual portions of medium/long-

term loans held by the companies Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l. for Euro 2,273 thousand and 

Euro 130 thousand respectively, in addition to current account overdrafts referable to the same 

companies for a total of Euro 1,672 thousand. 

Funding from shareholders

The item refers to the “Deferred Purchase Price Agreement” debt instrument, subscribed after entering 

into the partnership concerning the payment services business for a total of Euro 222.2 million due to 

the minority shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A. and Euro 119.5 million due to the majority shareholder SG2 

S.p.A. which took over Sisal S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Group S.p.A.) following the spin-off that occurred in 

November 2021. The loan accrues annual interest of 9% (subject to capitalisation at the end of each 

financial year) and over the course of 2021, interest was accrued equal to a sum of Euro 10 million for 

the financial debt to SG2 S.p.A. and Euro 18.6 million to Banca 5 S.p.A. The debt is deferred and the 

capital value (including interest accrued and capitalised) will be repaid no earlier than 6 months after the 

complete repayment of the Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes by Mooney Group S.p.A. 
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Lease liabilities 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Short-term lease liabilities                         4,075                         4,108 

Long-term lease liabilities                       15,075                         8,023 

Total                       19,150                       12,132 

(*) of which financial payable for operating leases to related parties                                 -                             867 

Lease liabilities represent the short and medium/long-term obligations to make the payments set out in 

contracts that include a lease and mainly refer to property, terminals, data centre and motor vehicles. 

Lease liabilities are recognised on the basis of an average duration of years for vehicle leases equal to 

two-three-four years, for real estate leases equal to three-five-nine years, for the data centre equal to 

five years and for terminals equal to four years and also include write-backs of values subject to indices 

such as ISTAT. 

Lease liabilities are recognised at an amount equal to the present value of lease payments not yet made 

at the commencement date, calculated adopting a discount rate equal to the interest rate implicit in the 

lease or, where this cannot be easily determined, using the incremental borrowing rate of the Group. 

An analysis of the due dates of the lease payments is shown below, with a breakdown of the lease 

payments not discounted on an annual basis for the first five years and the total amounts for the 

remaining years: 

31-Dec-21

€/000 

Minimum future payments for leased assets 

Within 1 year 4,791

Between 1 and 2 years 4,873

Between 2 and 3 years 3,355

Between 3 and 4 years 2,638

Between 4 and 5 years 1,573

After 5 years 4,135

(Effect of discounting)                         (2,215)

Lease liabilities  19,150

The increase in the item in question compared to the end of 2020 is mainly attributable to the activation 

of new operating lease agreements relating to the headquarters in via Bonnet in Milan and via 

Mercadante in Rome and residually to the new data centre and vehicle fleet. 
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33. Net financial debt 

The Group's net financial debt as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is shown below: 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Cash and cash equivalents          67,633     69,103 

A Cash and cash equivalents          67,633     69,103 

Current financial payables           68,722     59,323 

Current portion of medium-/long-term debt             6,137       7,220 

Other current financial payables             1,671       1,795 

B Current financial debt           76,529     68,338 

C Net current financial debt (B-A)             8,896 (765)

Medium/long-term debt        342,817   314,956 

Notes issued        513,786   510,951 

Other non-current financial payables           15,075       8,023 

D Non-current financial debt       871,678   833,930 

E Net financial debt (C+D)        880,574   833,166 

34. Provision for employee severance indemnities  

The employee severance indemnity at the end of the 2021 financial year, equal to Euro 7,579 thousand, 

shows an effect of the discounting calculated in accordance with the provisions of the reference 

accounting standard IAS 19 equal to Euro 1,295 thousand. The changes for the year are shown below: 

Year  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Beginning balance                         5,969                         2,736 

Current costs 690 421 

Finance expenses 29 22 

Actuarial (gains) losses 1,295 (81)

Contributions made - Benefits paid (404) (264)

Change in scope of consolidation - 3,135 

31 December                         7,579                         5,969 

There are no plan assets servicing the defined benefit plans. 
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35. Provisions for risks and charges  

The changes in this item are as follows: 

As of the date of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, and at this time, although in a 

context of uncertainty, it is believed that such pending cases and proceedings will not give rise to 

liabilities besides those already recorded in the consolidated financial statements or have significant 

consequences.  

36. Other non-current liabilities 

The item in question, which as at 31 December 2021 has a value of Euro 2.8 million, relates to the 

portion of long-term debt (earn-out) recorded by the company Mooney Servizi S.p.A. relating to the 

acquisition of Pluservice S.r.l. for Euro 1.7 million and to the debt accrued to employees of the Pluservice 

group, based on the agreements signed at the time of the acquisition, for a total of Euro 1.1 million.  

37. Trade payables and other payables  

This item is composed as follows: 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020

Payables to suppliers  36,817 28,380 

Payables to partners for services  134,088 172,985 

Other trade payables  2,632 2,591 

Payables to Sisal Group companies  348 2,262 

Payables to Banca 5 2,337 2,875 

Payables to Banca Intesa Sanpaolo 195 -

Payables to other related parties 927 644 

Total  177,344 209,738 

The item Payables to suppliers mainly refers to the technological, commercial and operational supplies 

activated by the Group during the last months of the year, and the increase compared to the balance of 

the previous year mainly reflects the expansion and the ever-greater diversification of operating activities 

and of the investments made by the Group.     

(in migliaia di Euro) Fondo rischi Totale 

e altri oneri 

31-dic-19 294 0 294

Accantonamento netto 130                          - 130

Utilizzo (65)                          - (65)

31-dic-20 359 0 359

Accantonamento netto 110                          - 110

Utilizzo (118)                          - (118)

Riclassifica 101                          - 101

31-dic-21 452 0 452

Fondo perdite su 

partecipazioni 
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The item "Payables to partners for services" relates mainly to the sale of top-ups of telephone and TV 

content cards and collection and payment services operated directly by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. and 

Mooney S.p.A., respectively, on behalf of private and public entities.  

The item Payables to Sisal Group companies essentially includes the residual debt positions for services 

received against specific temporary service agreements signed at the end of 2019.  

The item "Payables to Banca 5" mainly includes payables relating to operating and technological support 

services regulated by temporary service agreements and to payables deriving from developments and 

services provided for the minority shareholder for the new Mooney prepaid card management platform. 

38. Income Taxes payable  

This item is composed as follows: 

           At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Payables for IRAP tax                              236                         1,344 

Payables for IRES tax                               149                                 6 

Total                              385                         1,350 

39. Other current liabilities  

This item is composed as follows: 

      At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Payables to employees 4,677 3,347 

Payables for payment accounts 11,925 7,348 

Payables to holders of prepaid cards 65,150 15,588 

Cash payable 3,459 2,597 

Payables to social security agencies 2,837 2,385 

Other taxes payable 2,213 1,753 

Other payables to Sisal Group 1,817 989 

Other payables to related parties 781 470 

Other payables for services  636 4,165 

Deferred income and accrued expenses 1,213 4,919 

Other payables for pro-rata VAT on invoices to be received 2,346 2,426 

Other current liabilities 2,647 4,079 

Total 99,702 50,066 

The main items forming other current liabilities are analysed below. 

Payables to employees  

Payables to employees include the 14th month bonus, other bonuses, vacations, former holidays, 

outstanding leave, remuneration and overtime accrued but not yet paid at year end. 
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Payables for payment accounts 

This item includes the payables due to customers for deposits on payment accounts opened to manage 

mainly the services provided by the company Mooney S.p.A. in the role of Payment facilitator. 

Payables to holders of prepaid cards  

This item includes the payables due to customers for deposits and purchases in relation to the e-money 

issued by IMEL Mooney S.p.A. 

Payable to Borsellino myCicero 

The item includes payables deriving from deposits of the myCicero App users aimed at the use of the 

services for the purchase of parking tickets, blue stripes and transport tickets. 

Other payables to Sisal Group 

The item essentially includes the debit positions deriving from the calculation of the VAT Group 

indemnities as well as the debit positions of the VAT settlement in December.  

Other taxes payable  

The item "Other taxes payable" is detailed as follows: 

At 31 December  

(in Euro thousands) 2021 2020

Payables for IRPEF payroll tax  1,210 1,008 

Payables for equalisation tax  101 3 

Sundry taxes payable  902 742 

Total 2,213 1,753 

Other payables for pro-rata VAT on invoices to be received  

The percentage of non-deductibility for the Group in 2021 stood at 51% compared to 49% in the previous 

year. 

Other current liabilities 

The item highlights the short-term component of the payable for the earn-out related to the acquisition 

of Pluservice S.r.l. for Euro 1.1 million. 
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40. Commitments 

The commitments of the Group at the reporting dates are detailed as follows: 

At 31 December   

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Payment and top-up services  102,786 143,500

Others 3,623 2,597

Total  106,409 146,097

Payment and top-up services refer to the guarantees issued by the Mooney Group to partner customers 

mainly for agreements relating to payment services and to the sale and/or distribution of telephone 

phone top-ups for which the above-mentioned Group is required to guarantee payment, net of their fees, 

of the amounts collected under the terms of the agreements.  

41. Related party transactions 

The Group’s related party transactions are both financial and non-financial in nature.  The Company 

holds that all such transactions are substantially settled on an arm’s length basis. 

The relations with the Parent Company SG2 S.p.A. are exclusively related to the payable towards the 

same for the Deferred Price Acquisition relating to the corporate restructuring operation at the end of 

2019 through which the Parent Company took over from Sisal S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Group S.p.A.) 

following the demerger of the latter. 

With regard to relations with the companies of the Sisal group, which are directly and/or indirectly 

controlled by Schumann Investments S.A. (a company incorporated under Luxembourg law), which, in 

turn, as of 31 December 2021, indirectly controls the Parent Company, operational, management and 

technology support services are noted, governed by now residual specific temporary service 

agreements as well as relations relating to the VAT Group regime that sees the companies of the 

Mooney Group in the role of subsidiaries and Sisal Entertainment S.p.A., which has taken over from 

Sisal S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Group S.p.A.), in that of consolidating company. 

Relations with the minority shareholder of the Parent Company Banca 5 S.p.A., which in any case 

exercises a significant influence on the Group and with the parent company of the same Intesa Sanpaolo 

S.p.A., are of a commercial, operational and financial nature, as highlighted below. 
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The balances referring to related party transactions in the statement of financial position at 31 December 

2021 and 2020 are detailed in the following table:  

2021 

2020 

The effects of related party transactions on the income statement for the years ended 31 December 

2021 and 2020 are detailed in the following table. 

For 2021 

(in Euro thousands) SG2 S.p.A. Sisal Group Companies Banca 5
Banca Intesa 

Sanpaolo

Senior 

Management 

Other related 

parties
TOTAL 

TOTAL ITEM IN 

FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

PERCENTAGE OF 

TOTAL ITEM 

Trade receivables

At 31 December 2021 - 61 4,382 - - - 4,443 60,376 7.36%

Other current assets

At 31 December 2021 - 5,616 - - - - 5,616 12,489 44.97%

Restricted bank deposits

At 31 December 2021 - - 53,453 12,672 - - 66,125 98,062 67.43%

Cash 

At 31 December 2021 - - 15,901 27,512 - - 43,413 67,633 64.19%

Long-term debt

At 31 December 2021 119,467 - 222,209 1,531 - - 343,207 871,678 39.37%

Trade payables and other payables

At 31 December 2021 - 348 2,337 214 - 927 3,826 177,344 2.16%

Short-term debt

At 31 December 2021 - - - - - - 0 70,392 0.00%

Current portion of long-term debt

At 31 December 2021 - - - 514 - - 514 6,137 8.37%

Other current liabilities 

At 31 December 2021 - 1,817 - - 781 - 2,598 99,702 2.61%

(in Euro thousands) Sisal Group
Sisal Group 

Companies
Banca 5

Banca Intesa 

Sanpaolo

Senior 

Management 

Other related 

parties
TOTAL 

TOTAL ITEM IN 

FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

PERCENTAGE OF 

TOTAL ITEM 

Trade receivables

At 31 December 2021 48,067 91 6,037 - - - 54,195 76,610 70.74%

Other current assets

At 31 December 2021 237 3,028 1,353 - - - 4,618 11,670 39.57%

Restricted bank deposits

at 31 December 2021 - - 653 15,402 - - 16,055 61,142 26.26%

Cash 

At 31 December 2021 - - 10,011 19,161 - - 29,172 69,103 42.21%

Long-term debt

At 31 December 2021 109,450 - 203,577 800 - - 313,827 833,930 37.63%

Trade payables and other payables

At 31 December 2021 753 1,510 2,875 - 210 434 5,783 209,738 2.76%

Short-term debt

At 31 December 2021 1,164 1,164 61,118 1.91%

Current portion of long-term debt

At 31 December 2021 867 1,641 2,508 7,220 34.73%

Other current liabilities 

At 31 December 2021 412 577 - - 470 - 1,459 50,177 2.91%

(in Euro thousands) SG2 S.p.A. Sisal Group Companies Banca 5
Banca Intesa 

Sanpaolo

Senior 

Management 

Other related 

parties
TOTAL 

TOTAL ITEM IN 

FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

PERCENTAGE OF 

TOTAL ITEM 

Revenues

Year ended 31 December 2021 - 80 32,342 - 0 0 32,422 349,313 9.28%

Other income

Year ended 31 December 2021 4,545 4,545 5,280 86.07%

Costs for services 

Year ended 31 December 2021 - 1,381 8,597 123 1,317 813 12,231 241,820 5.06%

Staff costs 

Year ended 31 December 2021 - - - 836 2,045 0 2,881 27,019 10.66%

Finance expenses and similar

Year ended 31 December 2021 1,422 8,599 18,600 - 28,622 57,810 49.51%
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2020 

Senior Management 

The following Group officers are considered key leaders: i) the Chief Executive Officer of the Board of 

Directors; ii) the Chief Financial Officer; iii) the executives heading the Payments & Services & 

Operations, Commercial & Banking Services, and Sales Business Units; and iv) the HR executive and 

executives with strategic responsibilities for the company Pluservice S.r.l.

Compensation to the key executives of the Group is as follows: 

Year ended 31 December  

(in Euro thousands)  2021 2020 

Salaries and wages                          3,304                         1,909 

Employee severance indemnities                              184                             129 

Total                          3,488                         2,038 

Executives who are also Company directors, with related powers and responsibilities, are entitled to 

directors’ compensation determined by the shareholders at the annual general meeting. 

42. Law 124/2017 

Paragraph 125 of Law 124/2017 of August 4, 2017 introduced, starting from the 2018 financial year, the 

obligation for companies that receive grants, contributions, paid positions and in any case economic 

advantages of any kind from the public administrations and from the subjects referred to in the first 

period 33 of the same paragraph, to publish these amounts in the notes to the financial statements. 

In line with the interpretations provided by the main trade associations, including ASSONIME, with 

specific reference only to the company Pluservice S.r.l., the Group certifies that over the course of the 

(in Euro thousands) Sisal Group
Sisal Group 

Companies
Banca 5

Banca Intesa 

Sanpaolo

Senior 

Management 

Other related 

parties
TOTAL 

TOTAL ITEM IN 

FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

PERCENTAGE OF 

TOTAL ITEM 

Revenues

Year ended 31 December 2021 793 91 38,238 - 0 0 39,122 309,233 12.65%

Other income

Year ended 31 December 2021 1,962 1,962 2,714 72.28%

Costs for services 

Year ended 31 December 2021 455 3,130 6,082 37 420 554 10,678 221,849 4.81%

Staff costs 

Year ended 31 December 2021 2,038 2,038 22,497 9.06%

Finance expenses and similar

Year ended 31 December 2021 9,150 22 17,028 - 26,200 52,725 49.69%
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year 2021, sums were paid to the company by the subjects referred to in this provision for Euro 12 

thousand relating to contributions for the stabilisation of personnel.  

The company Pluservice S.r.l. has also obtained contributions aimed at mitigating the negative effects 

of the Covid-19 pandemic for Euro 6 thousand pursuant to art. 1, paragraphs 16 to 27, of decree law 

no. 73 of 25 May 2021.  

In relation to the regulation in question, it is stated that the company carries out its own characteristic 

activities also in favour of entities and companies for the development of projects, also of a national and 

international nature. Over 2021, it collected sums of Euro 72 thousand for these activities and has 

receivables of Euro 155 thousand.  

43. Significant events occurring after the end of the year 

The current year continues to experience the continuation of the Covid-19 health emergency now 

combined with the unexpected geopolitical crisis that arose following the Russian invasion of Ukraine. 

It is reasonable that these events will also have an impact on the reference markets of the Group, 

causing a possible slowdown in the growth trend highlighted previously. It is also expected that there 

may be difficulties at the level of the distribution network with an increase in the numbers relating to 

closures and greater difficulties in contracting and launching new points of sale. 

Therefore, despite a still complex macro-economic scenario, the results achieved by the Group in the 

first months of the new year were generally positive in almost all the main business segments and the 

activities planned in the various sectors continue, aimed at expanding and strengthening the business 

offer.   

With reference to the Parent Company, it should be noted that, in February, the reverse merger process 

of the parent company SG2 S.p.A. into the Company was completed, at the end of the corporate 

restructuring operation started in the previous year with the aforementioned spin-off of Sisal S.p.A. 

(formerly Sisal Group S.p.A.), former direct parent of the Company. 

In the first months of the new year, the subsidiary Mooney S.p.A. also finalised the preparatory activities 

for a further transfer of a business branch relating to payment services by the shareholder Banca 5 

S.p.A.; this transaction is expected to be finalised by the current month of April, as soon as the relative 

authorisation from the Bank of Italy is received, and at the same time the Parent Company will take over 

from the shareholder the interest acquired following the transfer on the basis of a value equal to Euro 

23.5 million, by underwriting a debit note of the same amount and at similar conditions to those relating 

to the debt instruments already in place towards the shareholders. 

Finally, it should be noted that in the last period of the 2021 financial year, the Parent Company launched 

a process aimed at verifying the possibility of accessing the listing on the Italian Stock Exchange; this 

process was interrupted at the end of the year when, at the end of a tight investigation process, the 

company Schumann Investments SA, then the indirect parent company of the Company, signed a 

binding agreement for the sale of its shareholding in part to the current shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A., 
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100% controlled by the Banca Intesa Sanpaolo group and partly by the company Enel X S.p.A., which 

is part of the ENEL group.  

Over the first months of 2022, the companies concerned therefore activated the process to reach the 

"closing" and to this end, various activities are underway, including the authorisation procedures at the 

Market and Competition Authority and at the Bank of Italy in consideration of the nature of supervised 

financial intermediary of the subsidiary Mooney S.p.A. 

Milan, April 14, 2022 

    * * *                                                                                 

                                                                       On behalf of the Board of Directors 

                                                                                       The Chairman 

Prof. Paolo Fumagalli


